
 

 

 

 

 
 

Planning Commission 

Meeting Packet 
 

FOR 

 

June 28, 2016  

Planning Commission Meeting 
  

 

 

 

 
Sherwood City Hall 

22560 SW Pine Street 

Sherwood, Oregon 

 

 



Meeting documents may be found on the City of Sherwood website or by contacting the Planning Staff at 503-925-2308. 

 City of Sherwood 
PLANNING COMMISSION 

Sherwood City Hall  
22560 SW Pine Street 
Sherwood, OR  97140 

June 28, 2016  
7:00 PM Planning Commission Meeting 

 

Agenda 

1.  Call to Order/ Roll Call 

2.  Consent Agenda 

a. February 9, 2016 Planning Commission Minutes approval  
b. May 24, 2016 Planning Commission Minutes approval 
c. June 14, 2016 Planning Commission Minutes approval 
 

3.  Council Liaison Announcements  

4.  Staff Announcements (Brad Kilby) 

5.  Community Comments  

6.  New business  

a. Public Hearing – SP 16-04 Sherwood Plaza Apartments  
 

The applicant proposes a six- building, 82-unit apartment complex located behind and 
east of the Sherwood Plaza commercial development and south of Langer Drive. The 
property is zoned Retail-Commercial (RC).  
 

Residential uses are allowed in the RC zone so long as it is clearly secondary to the 
commercial use (Sherwood Plaza) on the site. The use is subject to the dimensional 
standards of the High Density Residential zone (HDR).1     
 

7. Planning Commissioner Announcements  

8.  Adjourn 

 

Plannning Commission Meeting 
June 28, 2016

1



  
Planning Commission Meeting Minutes 

January 12, 2016 

Page 1 of 1 

 

City of Sherwood, Oregon 
Planning Commission Meeting 

February 9, 2016 

Planning Commissioners Present:  Staff Present:  
Chair Jean Simson Tom Pessemier, Assistant City Manager  
Vice Chair Russell Griffin Julia Hajduk, Community Development Director 
Commissioner Chris Flores Brad Kilby, Planning Manager  
Commissioner Alan Pearson Kirsten Allen, Planning Dept. Program Coordinator 
Commissioner Rob Rettig  
   

Planning Commission Members Absent:     
Commissioner Michael Meyer  
Commissioner Lisa Walker 
 

Council Members Present:      
None 
 
 
Work Session 

Call to Order 

Chair Jean Simson convened the meeting at 7:00 pm and asked for any announcements.  Brad Kilby, 
Planning Manager, reported that discussion regarding recreational marijuana regulation would begin soon 
with an online survey and a public work session in March.  He expected land use applications from 
Zenport Industrial, the Community Garden and the Springs Living soon.   

1.  Industrial Land Use Districts Development Code  

Community Development Director Julia Hajduk said staff had received direction at the work session held 
on January 26, 2016.  She said proposed changes to the language were based on feedback received at the 
meeting and noted that written comments had been received by Macadam Forbes Commercial Real 
Estate Services (see record, Exhibit 1).  Staff was directed to begin the notice process to the Department 
of Land Conservation and Development (DLCD) and to hold public hearings.   

Tentative dates for public hearing dates:  

 Planning Commission, April 12, 2016 

 City Council, May 3, 2016 and May 17, 2016 
 

Chair Simson adjourned the meeting at 7:55 pm.  
 
Submitted by: 

______________________________________________     
Kirsten Allen, Planning Department Program Coordinator 
 
 
Approval Date: __________________________________ 

Plannning Commission Meeting 
June 28, 2016

2



  
Planning Commission Meeting Minutes - DRAFT 

May 24, 2016 

Page 1 of 3 

 

City of Sherwood, Oregon 
Planning Commission Meeting 

May 24, 2016 

Planning Commissioners Present:  Staff Present:  
Chair Jean Simson Tom Pessemier, Assistant City Manager  
Commissioner Chris Flores Julia Hajduk, Community Development Director Bob  
Commissioner Michael Meyer  Galati, City Engineer  
Commissioner Alan Pearson Brad Kilby, Planning Manager 
Commissioner Rob Rettig Michelle Miller, Senior Planner 
Commissioner Lisa Walker Kirsten Allen, Planning Dept. Program Coordinator 
   
Planning Commission Members Absent:     
Vice Chair Russell Griffin 
 
Council Members Present:      
Sally Robinson by phone 
 
Work Session 

1. Recreational Marijuana  

Michelle Miller, Senior Planner gave a presentation and noted recreational marijuana license types 
determined by the Oregon Liquor Control commission (OLCC). She explained the proposed code 
regulations based on input from the Commission and public engagement.  Discussion followed and a 
timeline was determined based on additional outreach opportunities over the summer including 
festivals and city sponsored events. Staff was directed to limit retail facilities to 3000 square feet.    

 

Regular Meeting  

1. Call to Order/Roll Call 

Chair Jean Simson convened the meeting at 7:35 pm.  

She moved to the consent agenda and asked for comments or a motion.   

2. Consent Agenda  

a. March 29, 2016 Planning Commission Minutes approval 
b. April 12, 2016 Planning Commission Minutes approval 
c. April 26, 2016 Planning Commission Minutes approval 

Motion: From Commissioner Alan Pearson to approve the Consent Agenda, Seconded by 
Commissioner Chris Flores.  All present Planning Commissioners voted in favor. 

3. Council Liaison Announcements 

Councilor Robinson thanked the Commission for their efforts regarding marijuana facility regulation 
and public outreach.  She said she would not be present for the next few meetings and there may not 
be an alternate present.   

Plannning Commission Meeting 
June 28, 2016

3



  
Planning Commission Meeting Minutes - DRAFT 

May 24, 2016 

Page 2 of 3 

 

4. Staff Announcements 

Brad Kilby, Planning Manager informed that TriMet would open a new bus line 97, from Tualatin to 
Sherwood, on June 6, 2016 (visit www.trimet.org/schedules/r097.htm ) and the Community Garden 
opened May 23rd. He announced a Cedar Creek Trail Local Trail Advisory Committee meeting on May 
25, 2016 with an open house on June 1st at 6:30 pm.   Phase I will be constructed first between Tonquin 
Road and Hwy 99W.   

Mr. Kilby informed that he sent an e-mail to the Sherwood West landowners about the possibility that 
Metro would revisit the Urban Growth Boundary maps in 2018 and that State Senate Bill 1573 
regarding annexation requirements that may affect the ultimate timing of Sherwood West.  He stated 
Federal Emergency Management Agency (FEMA) maps would be adopted shortly for Sherwood 
residents with flood insurance, but the National Marine and Fisheries Service (NMFS) had recently 
submitted a biological opinion regarding the new FEMA maps which may require two processes 
towards adoption. The maps cannot be changed by jurisdictions.   

5.  Community Comments  

None were received. 

6.  Old Business  
a. Public Hearing – PA 16-02 Public or Commercial Parking within the Old Town Overlay 

Chair Simson began the public hearing and read the public hearing statement stating the Planning 
Commission would make a recommendation to the City Council.  She said the hearing was legislative 
and ex parte contact did not apply.  Chair Simson asked for the staff report.   

Brad Kilby, Planning Manager gave a presentation and said the City receives complaints about a parking 
shortage in Old Town and the URA, owners of the Robin Hood Theater lot, wanted to relocate the 
parking in order to develop the lot.  Two lots off of First Street had been identified for the new parking 
lot. The lots were split zoned with one zoned residentially.  Residential properties are not allowed to 
have non-accessory parking.  Mr. Kilby said as a result of testimony received at the public hearing on 
April 12, 2016 and a split decision by the Planning Commission the application was amended to limit 
the scope of the amendment to residential properties adjacent to collector or arterial roadways and 
vacant as of May 1, 2016.  He explained that non-accessory (stand-alone) parking did not have an 
associated use and gave the parking lot behind City Hall as an example of accessory parking.   Only one 
lot met the criteria.   

Mr. Kilby explained that conditional uses in Old Town were subject to a public hearing before the 
Planning Commission with notice to surrounding properties.  He described approval criteria for a text 
amendment was based upon a need, which has established by the Urban Renewal Agency and must be 
in accordance with the Transportation Planning Rule in which the functional classifications of roads 
cannot be affected by the amendment.  ODOT and the City Engineer have confirmed that no roadway 
classification would be affected.  

Mr. Kilby noted that a new notice was sent to surrounding property owners explaining the new 
proposed language and stated that no public comments were received by staff.  He recommended the 
Planning Commission forward a recommendation of approval to the City Council, reminded the 
commission that this was not an approval for the parking lot and reiterated that only one lot met the 
proposed language.    

Plannning Commission Meeting 
June 28, 2016

4

http://www.trimet.org/schedules/r097.htm


  
Planning Commission Meeting Minutes - DRAFT 

May 24, 2016 

Page 3 of 3 

 

Chair Simson asked for applicant testimony.  

Tom Pessemier expressed that there was a need for parking in Old Town and that comments were 
heard from citizens relative to historic structures and the desire to preserve the character of Old Town.  
He noted that the proposal was amended to address concerns expressed and it was the URA’s desire to 
construct parking in Old Town on 1st Street.  No homes would be removed to build the parking lot.   

Keith Jones, Harper Houf Peterson Righellis stated he had prepared the application and had ensured 
that the record complied with the Comprehensive Plan and the Sherwood Zoning and Community 
Development Code. He confirmed a need to provide parking and stated it was a good site for parking.   

Mr. Pessemier disclosed the May 1, 2016 date was chosen because of eventual demolition of privately 
owned houses on Ash Street and he wanted to avoid confusion.  He added that the proposed language 
would be added to the Conditional Uses code, Section 16.162.040 as item C, and suggested a review of 
16.162.040.A prior to going to City Council.   

Chair Simson thanked staff and the applicant, noting that in legislative matters, public testimony could 
affect a positive change. 

Mr. Pessemier noted that the City Council was not involved in the application as inferred by staff, 
because the URA Board was made up of city council members and they were the final decision maker.   

Chair Simson asked for public testimony.  The one person who had turned in a form to testify declined, 
because his concerns were addressed by the applicant.   

Chair Simson closed the public hearing and the following motion was received.   

Motion: From Commissioner Alan Pearson that the Sherwood Planning Commission forward a 
recommendation of approval to the City Council for  PA 16-02 Public or Commercial Parking 
within the Old Town Overlay based on applicant testimony, public testimony received and 
analysis, findings and conditions in the staff report.  Seconded by Commissioner Michael Meyer. 
All present Planning Commissioners voted in favor.  

7.  Planning Commissioner Announcements 

Commissioner Pearson announced he was cancer free.   

8.  Adjourn 

 
Chair Simson adjourned the meeting at 8:06 pm.  

 

 

 
Submitted by: 

______________________________________________     
Kirsten Allen, Planning Department Program Coordinator 
 
 
Approval Date: __________________________________ 

Plannning Commission Meeting 
June 28, 2016

5



  
Planning Commission Meeting Minutes – DRAFT 

June 14, 2016 

Page 1 of 2 

 

City of Sherwood, Oregon 
Planning Commission Meeting 

June 14, 2016 

Planning Commissioners Present:  Staff Present:  
Chair Jean Simson Julia Hajduk, Community Development Director   
Commissioner Michael Meyer  Brad Kilby, Planning Manager  
Commissioner Alan Pearson Kirsten Allen, Planning Dept. Program Coordinator 
Commissioner Lisa Walker  
   
Planning Commission Members Absent:     
Vice Chair Russell Griffin 
Commissioner Chris Flores  
Commissioner Rob Rettig 
 
Council Members Present:      
Sally Robinson  
 
1. Call to Order/Roll Call 

Chair Jean Simson convened the meeting at 7:00 pm.  

2. Consent Agenda  

None 
 

3. Council Liaison Announcements 

Councilor Robinson noted the job posting for a Senior Planner position for the Comprehensive Plan 
update.  She reported that Meinecke Parkway west of Hwy 99W would be closed to the public between 
June 20 and July 15 for water main upgrades.  Councilor Robinson will be on medical leave for the next 
couple months.  She reminded the Commission that City Council will meet once a month over the 
summer.   

4. Staff Announcements 

Brad Kilby, Planning Manager informed that there would be a public meeting regarding the Tannery Site 
Assessment Update on Wednesday July 13, 2016 from 6:00-7:30 pm.  The City received an EPA grant to 
assess the site for cleanup and the possibility of the City purchasing the two lots being assessed.  If the 
city acquired the property, cleanup grants would be applied for.   

5.  Community Comments  

None were received. 

6.  Old Business  
a. Public Hearing – PA 15-06 Claus Property Plan Amendment and Zone Change 

Mr. Kilby conveyed that staff had received a request on behalf of the applicant to amend the application 
and continue the hearing to a later date.   He indicated that new public notices would be sent.   

Plannning Commission Meeting 
June 28, 2016

6



  
Planning Commission Meeting Minutes – DRAFT 

June 14, 2016 

Page 2 of 2 

 

Motion: From Commissioner Alan Pearson to continue the hearing to a date not certain with a re-
notice, Seconded by Commissioner Lisa Walker.  All present Planning Commissioners voted in 
favor. 

7.  Planning Commissioner Announcements 

There were no announcements  

8.  Adjourn 

Chair Simson adjourned the meeting at 7:06 pm.  

 

 

 
Submitted by: 

______________________________________________     
Kirsten Allen, Planning Department Program Coordinator 
 
 
Approval Date: __________________________________ 

Plannning Commission Meeting 
June 28, 2016

7



 
 

New Business Agenda 
Item A  

Plannning Commission Meeting 
June 28, 2016

8



Page 1 of 39 

SP 16-04 Sherwood Plaza Apartments  

CITY OF SHERWOOD                                        June 28, 2016  
Staff Report                    File No: SP 12-04 

 
Sherwood Plaza Apartments 

 
TO: Planning Commission                                        Pre-App. Meeting: August 3, 2015  
                                                                                                       App. Submitted: March 2, 2016  

App. Complete: May 9, 2016 
Hearing Date: June 28, 2016 

120 Day Deadline: September 6, 2016       
  
From: 
 
    

  
______________________ 
Michelle Miller, AICP  
Senior Planner 
  
Proposal: The applicant proposes a six- building, 82-unit apartment complex located behind and 
just east of the Sherwood Plaza commercial development and south of Langer Drive. The property 
is zoned Retail-Commercial (RC). The applicant’s submittal materials are attached to this report 
as Exhibit A. 
 
I. BACKGROUND 
 
A.   Owner/Applicant:     
 
 
            
       Contact:     
     

Applicant’s Representative:  
 
     
 
Contact: 
 

 
Portland Fixture Limited Partnership  
15350 SW Sequoia Pkwy 
Portland OR 
 
Brian Shahum 503-925-1850 
 
Emerio Design 
8285 SW Nimbus Ave. Ste, 180 
Beaverton OR 97008 

 
AnneMarie Skinner, 503-746-8812 

 
B. Location: SW Langer Drive. Washington County Tax Map 2S129CB tax lots 00400.  

 
C. Parcel Size: The total site area of tax lot 400 is 13.26 acres of which 3.43 acres is proposed 

for the residential development. 

 
Existing Development and Site Characteristics:  The square shaped 13.26 acre site 
contains Sherwood Plaza, a single story multi-tenant retail facility. The site, known as 
“Sherwood Plaza” is a 27,000 square foot shopping plaza where multiple commercial 
businesses surround an existing parking area with several satellite buildings. The “Plaza” 
consists of one large parcel along SW Langer Drive that includes a large, long L-shaped 
shopping area with a post office, toy store, several restaurants, a coffee shop and a large 

Plannning Commission Meeting 
June 28, 2016

9



Page 2 of 39 

SP 16-04 Sherwood Plaza Apartments  

children’s indoor activity center. There are several outlying buildings including a drive 
through restaurant, a dine-in restaurant and a real estate office. The parking area consists 
of 540 spaces primarily in the front of the large shopping area surrounding the buildings. 
The parking areas are separated with a few landscape islands and a sidewalk that 
connects to SW Langer Drive. This commercial plaza area has primary access onto SW 
Langer Drive at three locations as it curves around the site on the site’s west and northern 
boundaries. There are several other stand-alone buildings on the site which contain two 
restaurants, a drive up coffee shop and a small office building. 
 
There is an access road behind the Plaza and a large stand of lodgepole pines and 
overgrown vegetation separating the developed and undeveloped sections of the site. The 
remaining vacant portion, approximately 3.43 acres is relatively flat, with grass and minimal 
landscaping. 

 
D. Site History:  The site received land use approval for development of the Plaza in 1977. 

(SR 77-04) Several other site plan approvals have been granted since that time and  
Includes the Taco Bell Site Plan approval in 2008 (SP 07-08) and Dutch Bros. in 2012 (SP 
12-02).  
 

E. Zoning Classification and Comprehensive Plan Designation: The site is zoned Retail 
Commercial (RC). Per Chapter 16.22, the purpose of the RC zone is to provide areas of 
general retail and service uses that neither require larger parcels of land, nor produce 
excessive environmental impacts as per Division VIII. Multi-family housing is allowed so 
long as it is clearly secondary to the commercial use. The dimensional standards of the 
High Density Residential apply, with a density range between 16.8 and 24 units to the acre.   
 

G. Adjacent Zoning and Land Use: The subject property is adjacent to high density 
residentially zoned and developed properties to the south and east. The Sunfield 
Apartments are located to the south and the Arbor Terrace subdivision is located to the 
east. A private drive is located adjacent to the property’s eastern boundary.   Properties 
north and west of the site are also zoned Retail Commercial.   
 

H. Review Type: The applicant proposes site plan approval for six multi-family buildings 
adjacent to the Sherwood Plaza. Due to the size, the application is subject to a Type IV 
review which requires review and approval by the Planning Commission after conducting 
a public hearing.  An appeal would be heard by the Sherwood City Council. 

 
I. Public Notice and Hearing:  This application was processed consistent with the standards 

in effect at the time it was submitted. A neighborhood meeting was held on January 4, 
2016 at the Sherwood Police Department. The neighborhood meeting was attended by 
four members of the general public. They raised concerns, the proposed parking, housing 
type, site amenities, play area location, garbage receptacles, and management of the 
development. The minutes are provided in the applicant’s materials (See Exhibit A).  

 
 Notice of the application was mailed to property owners within at least 1,000 feet of the 

subject property, posted on the property and in five locations throughout the City on June 
6 and 7, 2016 in accordance with Section 16.72.020 of the SZCDC. The notice was 
published in the Times (a paper of general circulation) on June 23 and in the Sherwood 
Gazette (a paper of local circulation) in the June 2016 edition in accordance with Section 
16.72.020 of the SZCDC. 
 

Plannning Commission Meeting 
June 28, 2016

10



Page 3 of 39 

SP 16-04 Sherwood Plaza Apartments  

J. Review Criteria:  Sherwood Zoning and Community Development Code, 16.12 
(Residential Land Use Districts), 16.22 (Commercial Land Use Districts), 16.58 (Clear 
Vision and Fence Standards), 16.72 (Procedures for Processing Development Permits), 
16.90 (Site Planning), 16.92 (Landscaping), 16.94 (Off Street Parking and Loading), 16.96 
(On-Site Circulation), 16.98 (On-Site Storage), Division V.I Public Infrastructure- 16.106 
(Transportation Facilities), 16.110 (Sanitary Sewers), 16.112 (Water), 16.114 (Storm), 
16.116 (Fire Protection), 16.118 (Public and Private Utilities), Division VIII. Environmental 
Resources, 16.142 (Parks, Trees, and Open Spaces), 16.154 (Heat and Glare) 

 
 

II. PUBLIC COMMENTS 
 

Public notice was mailed and posted on the property and in five locations throughout the City on 
June 6 and 7, 2016. Staff received no specific public comments to this application. However, 
comments are accepted prior to, or at the Planning Commission hearing. 
 

III. AGENCY COMMENTS 
  
Staff sent e-notice to affected agencies on May 18, 2016.  The following is a summary of the 
comments received.  Copies of full comments are included in the record unless otherwise noted. 
 
Sherwood Engineering Department: Craig Christensen, PE, Project Engineer submitted 
comments on June 16, 2016. His comments are incorporated throughout the report, and where 
appropriate conditions have been imposed to ensure that the proposal meets the standards which 
the engineering department is responsible to enforce. These comments are discussed in greater 
detail throughout this report, incorporated into the recommended decision, and are attached as 
Exhibits B.    
 
Clean Water Services: Jackie Sue Humphrey’s submitted comments dated June 13, 2016. Within 
her comments, Ms. Humphrey’s indicates that the applicant will be required to obtain a storm 
connection permit from Clean Water Services (CWS), and approval of final construction plans 
and drainage calculations. The CWS comments are attached to this report as Exhibit C. 
  
Tualatin Valley Fire and Rescue: Tom Mooney, Deputy Fire Marshal II with Tualatin Valley Fire 
and Rescue (TVFR), submitted comments for this proposal on June 10, 2016.  Mr. Mooney’s 
comments have been incorporated into this report where applicable, and are attached to this 
report as Exhibit D.  
 
Pride Disposal Co.: Kristin Leichner of Pride Disposal, provided staff with amended comments 
dated May 26, 2016 that initially had the applicant revise their layout to accommodate the disposal 
trucks. The revised layout is satisfactory to Pride Disposal.  Ms. Leichner’s comments are 
attached to this report as Exhibit E.   
 
ODOT, PGE, Kinder Morgan Energy, NW Natural Gas, Washington County, Metro, and Tri-Met 
were also notified of this proposal and did not respond or provided no comments to the request 
for agency comments by the date of this report.  
 

IV. SITE PLAN REVIEW REQUIRED FINDINGS (SECTION 16.90) 
 

1. The proposed development meets applicable zoning district standards and design 
standards in Division II, and all provisions of Divisions V, VI, VIII and IX.  

Plannning Commission Meeting 
June 28, 2016

11



Page 4 of 39 

SP 16-04 Sherwood Plaza Apartments  

FINDING:  This standard can be met as discussed and conditioned in this report.  
  

2. The proposed development can be adequately served by services conforming to 
the Community Development Plan, including but not limited to water, sanitary 
facilities, storm water, solid waste, parks and open space, public safety, electric 
power, and communications. 

  
 Staff Analysis: Water, sanitary and streets are all available. They were provided as a part 

of the Sherwood Plaza. Parks and open space are nearby at Langer Park and provided 
onsite by the applicant. Solid waste services, power, communication and public safety are 
all available to this development as it is located adjacent to SW Langer Drive, within the 
City’s designated Town Center. There is a need to provide storm water treatment for the 
proposed development that has been discussed in the Engineering comments later in this 
report.   
 
FINDING: Services are available to the site. Some of the services must be extended to 
the proposed apartment buildings. These extensions are discussed and conditioned 
further in this report. 
 

3. Covenants, agreements, and other specific documents are adequate, in the City's 
determination, to assure an acceptable method of ownership, management, and 
maintenance of structures, landscaping, and other on-site features. 

  
FINDING: This site plan is subject to the conditions of the original Sherwood Plaza site 
plan approval. Any required covenants or restrictions will be required to be satisfied as a 
part of the development. 
 

      4. The proposed development preserves significant natural features to the maximum 
extent feasible, including but not limited to natural drainage ways, wetlands, trees, 
vegetation (including but not limited to environmentally sensitive lands), scenic 
views, and topographical features, and conforms to the applicable provisions of 
Division VIII of this Code and Chapter 5 of the Community Development Code. 
 
FINDING: The site where the apartments are proposed is flat and vacant. There are not 
any known significant natural resource areas on the property. 
  

5.  For developments that are likely to generate more than 400 average daily trips 
(ADTs), or at the discretion of the City Engineer, the applicant shall provide 
adequate information, such as a traffic impact analysis or traffic counts, to 
demonstrate the level of impact to the surrounding street system. The developer 
shall be required to mitigate for impacts attributable to the project.  

 
 STAFF ANALYSIS: The applicant prepared a traffic analysis as requested by the City 

Engineer that was reviewed by DKS, the City’s transportation consultants. The applicant 
evaluated the transportation impacts and pedestrian safety and connectivity surrounding 
the proposed development.  

 
 Specifically, the applicant was asked to evaluate the safety of the pedestrian crossing of 

SW Langer Drive in the vicinity of the site to determine if enhanced crossing is needed to 
provide safety pedestrian crossing access to/from the proposed site to the commercial 
development to the north.  In the assessment, the applicant noted that there were no 

Plannning Commission Meeting 
June 28, 2016

12



Page 5 of 39 

SP 16-04 Sherwood Plaza Apartments  

pedestrian crashes during the last three years near the crossing, adequate sight distance 
is provided, and that the proposed development would not be expected to add 
substantially more pedestrian volumes.  

 
 However, the applicant also determined that the proposed development is a residential 

complex in the Town Center, opposite of food and shopping attractions on the other side 
of Langer Drive. This combination of mixed uses does have the potential to increase 
multimodal activity to/from the site, consistent with the vision of the Sherwood Town 
Center.  

 
 Further analysis found that the minimum pedestrian volume peak–hour evaluation is 20 

pedestrians per hour using the existing crosswalk at the intersection of SW Langer Drive. 
The proposed development would generate 51 weekday PM peak hour trips.  

 
 To that end the City Engineer in consultation with DKS determines that an enhanced 

pedestrian crossing is warranted and recommends the following condition to ensure 
pedestrian safety and connectivity at this location. (See Exhibit G. Transportation 
information prepared by Kittelson and responses by DKS) 

 
FINDING: Based on the above analysis, the applicant does not meet this criterion, but can 
do so with the following condition.   
 
 
RECOMMENDED CONDITION: Prior to Engineering Plans approval, design the 
pedestrian crossing striping that conforms to standards defined in Section 3b.18 
(Crosswalk Markings) of the Manual on Uniform Traffic Control Devices. The pedestrian 
crossing striping shall include longitudinal lines parallel to the pedestrian traffic flow, and 
diagonal lines placed at 45 degree angle to the longitudinal lines. 
 
RECOMMENDED CONDITION: Prior to final occupancy, install a high visibility advanced 
pedestrian crossing warning signage and striping  at the pedestrian crossing of Langer 
Drive between the Plaza Site driveway entrance and the Highway 99W right-in/right-out 
access road.  Signage shall conform to standards defined in the Manual on Uniform Traffic 
Control Devices.  Applicant’s Engineer shall provide pedestrian crossing signage design 
drawings to the City for review and approval. 
 

6. The proposed office, retail multi-family institutional or mixed-use development is 
oriented to the pedestrian and bicycle, and to existing and planned transit facilities. 
Urban design standards shall include the following: 
1.   Primary, front entrances shall be located and oriented to the street, and have 

significant articulation and treatment, via facades, porticos, arcades, porches, 
portal, forecourt, or stoop to identify the entrance for pedestrians. Additional 
entrance/exit points for buildings, such as a postern, are allowed from 
secondary streets or parking areas. 

 
2.   Buildings shall be located adjacent to and flush to the street, subject to 

landscape corridor and setback standards of the underlying zone. 
 
3.   The architecture of buildings shall be oriented to the pedestrian and designed 

for the long term and be adaptable to other uses. Aluminum, vinyl, and T-111 
siding shall be prohibited. Street facing elevations shall have windows, 

Plannning Commission Meeting 
June 28, 2016

13



Page 6 of 39 

SP 16-04 Sherwood Plaza Apartments  

transparent fenestration, and divisions to break up the mass of any window. 
Roll up and sliding doors are acceptable. Awnings that provide a minimum 3 
feet of shelter from rain shall be installed unless other architectural elements 
are provided for similar protection, such as an arcade. 

 
 Staff Analysis: The vacant portion of the site is long and rectangular with limited options 

for orientation to the actual street frontage of the northern section of SW Langer Drive.  
The applicant contends that the overall site is a corner lot and both the western and 
northern property border SW Langer Drive and thus the three buildings on the eastern 
edge are facing a street albeit the westernmost portion of SW Langer Drive. Because of 
the narrowness and existing lot configuration, some buildings cannot be oriented to SW 
Langer Drive at the north. 

 
 In looking at the setbacks for the site, the applicant uses northern SW Langer Drive as the 

front of the site (See applicant’s materials page 4 of the narrative) and the east and west 
boundaries as the side property lines. For clarity, staff has assigned each of the six 
buildings a number. (See Exhibit F. Numbered Building Site Plan). Using the north 
boundary as the front, Building 1 should be oriented to SW Langer Drive rather than 
internal to the parking area. The applicant’s narrative agrees with this assessment, but it 
is unclear from the site layout (applicant’s site plan sheet A1.01) whether Building 1 is 
indeed orientated to the street. From this plan view, there is no sidewalk to the front 
entrance and it would appear that the front elevation is facing the internal parking area 
rather than SW Langer Drive. 

  
 The other building using the front yard setback of SW Langer Drive to the north, “Building 

A” has a side elevation that directly faces northern SW Langer Drive, with a 28 foot 
setback. Building 1 and 2 are flush with SW Langer Drive on the north and need to be 
oriented to the street. The applicant shows a side elevation at this location rather than a 
front elevation for Building 2, with limited articulation and orientation to the pedestrian. The 
applicant will need to revise this elevation in order to meet the intention of this standard. 

 
 FINDING:   Based on the above analysis, the applicant does not meet this criterion. The 

applicant should be able to meet this provision with the following condition.  
 
 RECOMMENDED CONDITION: Prior to final site plan approval, provide revised 

elevations for the northern sides of Buildings 1 and 2 which front SW Langer Drive. The 
elevations shall clearly demonstrate how the buildings are located and oriented to the 
street, and have significant articulation and treatment, via facades, sidewalk connection, 
porticos, arcades, porches, portal, forecourt, or stoop to identify the entrance for 
pedestrians. 

  
V. APPLICABLE CODE PROVISIONS 

 
The applicable zoning district standards are identified in Chapter 16.22 below.   

 
A. Division II– Land Use and Development 
The applicable provisions of Division II include:  

Chapter 16.22 - COMMERCIAL LAND USE DISTRICTS 

 

16.22.010 – Purpose 

Plannning Commission Meeting 
June 28, 2016

14



Page 7 of 39 

SP 16-04 Sherwood Plaza Apartments  

C. Retail Commercial (RC) - The RC zoning district provides areas for general retail and 
service uses that neither require larger parcels of land, nor produce excessive 
environmental impacts as per Division VIII. 

 

Staff Analysis: The site is zoned Retail Commercial, (RC) and provides “areas of general 
retail and service uses that neither require larger parcels of land, nor produce excessive 
environmental impacts as per Division VIII.” The site, approximately 13.26 acres in total 
on one tax lot, holds the Sherwood Plaza, a multi-tenant single story retail outlet as well 
as a stand-alone fast food restaurant, a sit down restaurant, a single story office building 
and a small drive up coffee stand and associated parking. The applicant proposes to add 
multi-family housing on the remaining 3.43 acres of the site, which would be permitted 
within this zone, so long as it is clearly secondary to the primary retail commercial use of 
the property.  

 

FINDING: Based on the above analysis, the applicant meets this criterion. 

 

16.22.020 - Uses 

Multi-family housing, subject to the dimensional requirements of the High Density 
Residential (HDR) zone in 16.12.030 when located on the upper floors, in the rear of, or 
otherwise clearly secondary to commercial buildings 

 
Staff Analysis: According to the table, multi-family residential uses are permitted outright 
within the zone so long as they are “otherwise clearly secondary to the commercial 
building.” Since the commercial buildings are single story and pre-existing, the applicant 
does not propose to add residential apartments atop the existing buildings but utilize a 
vacant portion of the site behind or in the rear of the commercial property. 
 
The applicant submitted a traffic study with this land use application identifying 1,517 pm 
peak hour trips generated from the commercial uses on the site. (See applicant’s traffic 
study, Exhibit A, prepared by Kittelson and Associates. In this same study, they estimated 
that the 82 unit multi-family development would generate an additional 545 net new 
weekday daily trips, a much smaller proportion than the commercial activity and the 
vehicular trip activity.  
 
The commercial portion of the site takes up approximately 75 % of the overall site area in 
compared to the residential area of the multifamily. Additionally, the multifamily 
development is clearly secondary as to the amount of frontage visible on SW Langer Drive. 
 
FINDING: Based on the above discussion, the applicant meets this criterion. 
 

16.12.030. - Residential Land Use Development Standards 
C. Development Standard per Residential Zone (table) 

HDR Dimensional Standard  In Feet 

Two or Multi-Family: for the first 2 units 8,000 sq. ft. 

Multi-family, each add. Unit after first 2 1,500 sq. ft. 

Minimum lot width at front property line 25 

Minimum lot width at building line- 60 

Lot Depth 80 

Max Height 40 or 3 stories 

Plannning Commission Meeting 
June 28, 2016

15



Page 8 of 39 

SP 16-04 Sherwood Plaza Apartments  

 
1. Lot Dimensions 
 
Staff Analysis: The proposed development is located within the RC zone and subject to 
the High Density Residential (HDR) dimensional standards for multi-family development. 
The HDR designation allows for a density of 16.8 to 24 units. The residential area is 3.47 
acres and the housing density will be between 57 and 82 units. The applicant has 
proposed the maximum density for this site.  

 
The building and all other structures must meet the dimensional standards outlined in the 
Sherwood Zoning and Development Code (SZDC).The minimum lot width at the front 
property line is required to be 25 feet and the minimum lot width at the building line is 
required to be 60 feet. The minimum lot depth is 80 feet. The subject property is 565 feet 
wide at the northern frontage and at least 718 feet deep, thus clearly exceeding the 
minimum required dimensions.   

 
The first two multifamily units are required to have 8,000 square feet with each additional 
unit requiring 1,500 square feet of area. The applicant proposes 82 units, using the first 
two units at 8,000 square feet and then the remaining 80 units require an additional 
120,000 for a total of 128,000 square feet or a minimum of 2.94 acres. The vacant area 
designated for the housing units are 3.43 acres. 

 
FINDING:  Based on the above discussion, the lot dimension standards are met. 

 
2.   Setbacks   

    
Staff Analysis: As discussed earlier, the northern setback is the front of the site, which 
requires a 14 foot setback, the southern property line is the rear setback and requires 20 
feet and the side yard setbacks are required to meet Chapter 16.68-Infill because the 
buildings are all over 24 feet in height which will be further discussed below.  The 
applicant’s plans show the front yard setback to be 14 feet and rear yard setback to be 20 
feet. (Exhibit A, applicant’s site plan Sheet A1.01 and Sheet A1.02) 
 
FINDING: The front and rear setback requirements are met. The side yard setbacks will 
be discussed below. 
 

 16.68.030 - Building Design on Infill Lots 

B. Interior Side Setback and Side Yard Plane. When a structure exceed twenty four 

(24) feet in height: 

1.The minimum interior side setback is five (5) feet, provided that elevations or 

portions of elevations exceeding twenty four (24) feet in height shall be setback 

from interior property line(s) an additional one-half (½) foot for every one (1) foot in 

height over twenty four (24) feet (see example below); and 

Setbacks- Multi-family  

Front Yard 14 

Interior side yard  

 Over 24 ft. in height See § 16.68- Infill 

Rear Yard 20 

Plannning Commission Meeting 
June 28, 2016

16



Page 9 of 39 

SP 16-04 Sherwood Plaza Apartments  

Staff Analysis: Three buildings are adjacent to the eastern side property line and subject 

to the side yard setback requirements. No other buildings are near any of the other side 

property lines. For this section, please refer to Exhibit F which assigns numbers to the 

buildings. 

Building 2, (sheet A2.01), the tallest building is 36 feet tall, 12 feet above the 24 foot high 

threshold which requires six feet (12 feet/.5 foot) of additional setback beyond the 5 feet 

minimum. Thus, the side yard setback is eleven feet and the plans show an 11 foot 

setback. 

Buildings 4 and 5, (sheet A2.03 and A2.05) are both 30 feet tall, 6 feet above the threshold 

which requires three feet of additional setback or 8 feet. The applicant shows these 

buildings 11 feet from the side property line. (Sheet A1.01). 

2. All interior side elevations exceeding twenty four (24) feet in height shall be 

divided into smaller areas or planes to minimize the appearance of bulk to 

properties abutting the side elevation: When the side elevation of such a structure 

is more than 750 square feet in area, the elevation shall be divided into distinct 

planes of 750 square feet or less. For the purposes of this standard, a distinct plane 

is an elevation or a portion of an elevation that is separated from other wall planes, 

resulting in a recessed or projecting section of the structure that projects or 

recedes at least two (2) feet from the adjacent plane, for a length of at least six (6) 

feet. The maximum side yard plane may be increased by ten percent (10%) for every 

additional five (5) feet of side yard setback provided beyond the five (5) foot 

minimum. 

 

Staff Analysis: The applicant shows the interior side elevations divided into smaller areas 

with distinct planes resulting in recessed or projecting sections at least six feet long at 

different intervals on all of the buildings that face the residential development to the east. 

The recesses are at least 2 feet from the adjacent plane. (Sheet A1.02) 

FINDING: Based on the above discussion the applicant meets this criterion.  

 
C.   Height 

 The maximum height of structures in the HDR zone is 40 feet or three stories, 
whichever is less.  

 
 FINDING: All of the proposed buildings are under 40 feet. The tallest building is 36 feet tall. 

Buildings 2-6 are three stories. Building 1 is two stories. Therefore, the applicant meets this 
criterion. 

 
16.58 Clear Vision and Fence Standards 
16.58.010 Clear Vision Areas 
The following requirements shall govern clear vision areas: 
  
2. In a commercial zone, the minimum distance shall be fifteen (15) feet, or at intersections 
including an alley, ten (10) feet. 

 

Plannning Commission Meeting 
June 28, 2016

17



Page 10 of 39 

SP 16-04 Sherwood Plaza Apartments  

Staff Analysis: There is one driveway where the clear vision areas could potentially be 
affected. The applicant has identified a 20 foot clear vision triangle on Sheet A1.01, 
showing that there will be no obstructions within the triangle, thus meeting this 
requirement.   
 
FINDING: The proposed development does not include any new structures or proposed 
landscaping that would obstruct the clear vision areas that have been prescribed in 
Section 16.58. This criterion is satisfied by the proposed development.  
 

B. Division V- Community Design 
The applicable provisions of Chapter 5 include: 16.90 (Site Planning – addressed 
previously in this report), 16.92 (Landscaping), 16.94 (Off-street parking and Loading), and 
16.96 (On-site Circulation). 16.98 (On-Site Storage) 
 
16.92 Landscaping 
16.92.010 - Landscaping Plan Required  
All proposed developments for which a site plan is required pursuant to Section 16.90.020 
shall submit a landscaping plan that meets the standards of this Chapter. All areas not 
occupied by structures, paved roadways, walkways, or patios shall be landscaped or 
maintained according to an approved site plan. 
 

Staff Analysis: The applicant’s materials contain a landscaping plan, identified as Sheets 
L1.1-L.4. Compliance with this section will be discussed below.  

 
16.92.020 - Landscaping Materials  
A. Type of Landscaping 
Required landscaped areas shall include an appropriate combination of native evergreen or 
deciduous trees and shrubs, evergreen ground cover, and perennial plantings. Trees to be 
planted in or adjacent to public rights-of-way shall meet the requirements of this Chapter. 
Plants may be selected from the City's "Suggested Plant Lists for Required Landscaping 
Manual" or suitable for the Pacific Northwest climate and verified by a landscape architect or 
certified landscape professional. 
 
1. Ground Cover Plants 
a. All of the landscape that is not planted with trees and shrubs must be planted in ground 
cover plants, which may include grasses. Mulch is not a substitute for ground cover, but is 
allowed in addition to the ground cover plants. 
b. Ground cover plants other than grasses must be at least the four-inch pot size and spaced 
at distances appropriate for the plant species. Ground cover plants must be planted at a 
density that will cover the entire area within three (3) years from the time of planting. 
2. Shrubs 
a. All shrubs must be of sufficient size and number to be at full growth within three (3) years 
of planting. 
b. Shrubs must be at least the one-gallon container size at the time of planting. 
3. Trees 
a. Trees at the time of planting must be fully branched and must be a minimum of two (2) 
caliper inches and at least six (6) feet in height. 
b. Existing trees may be used to meet the standards of this chapter, as described in Section 
16.92.020.C.2. 
 

Plannning Commission Meeting 
June 28, 2016

18



Page 11 of 39 

SP 16-04 Sherwood Plaza Apartments  

Staff Analysis: The landscape plan includes a combination of trees, shrubs and 
groundcover. The groundcover and shrub plantings are at least one gallon in size. The trees 
are at least 2” caliper. Proper installation and size of materials will be reviewed at the time of 
final inspection prior to occupancy of the buildings.  
 
FINDING: Based on the above discussion, the applicant meets the criterion with respect to 
variety of plant materials, but full compliance cannot be realized until the final inspection by 
planning staff. The following condition is recommended to fully meet this standard. 
 
RECOMMENDED CONDITION: Prior to final occupancy, ensure that all landscaping is 
installed per the approved landscape plan specifications. 

 
B. Plant Material Selection and Preparation 
1. Required landscaping materials shall be established and maintained in a healthy condition 
and of a size sufficient to meet the intent of the approved landscaping plan. Specifications 
shall be submitted showing that adequate preparation of the topsoil and subsoil will be 
undertaken. 
 
2. Landscape materials should be selected and sited to produce a hardy and drought-
resistant landscape area. Selection of the plants should include consideration of soil type, 
and depth, the amount of maintenance required, spacing, exposure to sun and wind, the 
slope and contours of the site, and compatibility with existing native vegetation preserved 
on the site. 
 

Staff Analysis: Laura Antonson, a registered landscape architect prepared the landscape 
plan set for this project. She identified the variety of plants and indicated that they would meet 
the requirements of this Chapter and would be at full growth within 3 years of planting. The 
applicant provided a description of how the trees and plants should be planted along with the 
type of soil and amendment that would be suitable for these plants. 
 
FINDING: Based on the above discussion, the applicant meets this criterion. 

 
 
C. Existing Vegetation 
1. All developments subject to site plan review per Section 16.90.020 and required to submit 
landscaping plans per this section shall preserve existing trees, woodlands and vegetation 
on the site to the maximum extent possible, as determined by the Review Authority, in 
addition to complying with the provisions of Section 16.142. (Parks, Trees and Open Space) 
and Chapter 16.144 (Wetland, Habitat, and Natural Resources). 
 

Staff Analysis: There are existing lodgepole pines separating the residential and 
commercial use on site. The narrative indicates that they are proposing to remove eight of 
the 24 pines onsite. The applicant does not explain why they need to be removed for 
development.  
 
In contrast, the landscape plan, L1.1, shows that 31 trees need to be removed for 
development. The applicant has not conducted a proper inventory as described in Chapter 
16.142, which will be discussed further within this report. 
 
FINDING: Based on the above discussion, the applicant has not provided a clear description 
on the landscape plans and in the narrative which trees are to be retained or removed for 

Plannning Commission Meeting 
June 28, 2016

19



Page 12 of 39 

SP 16-04 Sherwood Plaza Apartments  

development and a tree inventory conducted by an arborist describing the condition of the 
trees.  
 
RECOMMENDED CONDITION: Prior to final site plan approval, submit plans that indicate 
the correct number of trees to be removed or retained, the condition of the trees and if 
necessary, the reason for their removal. 

 
2. Existing vegetation, except those plants on the Nuisance Plants list as identified in the 
"Suggested Plant Lists for Required Landscaping Manual" may be used to meet the 
landscape standards, if protected and maintained during the construction phase of the 
development. 
a. If existing trees are used, each tree six (6) inches or less in diameter counts as one (1) 
medium tree. 
b. Each tree that is more than six (6) inches and up to nine (9) inches in diameter counts as 
two (2) medium trees. 
c. Each additional three (3) inch diameter increment above nine (9) inches counts as an 
additional medium tree. 
 

Staff Analysis: As discussed above, staff is unable to discern the appropriate number of 
trees to be retained and removed and as a result unable to calculate these provisions.  
 
FINDING: Based on the above criterion, the applicant does not meet the standard, but may 
be able to do so by meeting the previous condition stated above. 

 
D. Non-Vegetative Features 
1. Landscaped areas as required by this Chapter may include architectural features 
interspersed with planted areas, such as sculptures, benches, masonry or stone walls, 
fences, rock groupings, bark dust, semi-pervious decorative paving, and graveled areas. 
 
2. Impervious paving shall not be counted toward the minimum landscaping requirements 
unless adjacent to at least one (1) landscape strip and serves as a pedestrian pathway. 
 
3.  Artificial plants are prohibited in any required landscaped area. 
 

Staff Analysis: The applicant describes the southernmost play area as containing play 
equipment within the landscaped open space area, which is permitted. The applicant has 
not counted any impervious area within the required open space areas with the exception 
of the sideway within southern play area which serves as a pedestrian pathway from the 
parking lot. No artificial plants are proposed.  

 
 FINDING: Based on above discussion, the applicant meets this criterion.  
 
16.92.030 - Site Area Landscaping and Perimeter Screening Standards  
A. Perimeter Screening and Buffering 
1. Perimeter Screening Separating Residential Zones: 
A minimum six-foot high sight-obscuring wooden fence, decorative masonry wall, or 
evergreen screen, shall be required along property lines separating single and two-family 
uses from multi- family uses, and along property lines separating residential zones from 
commercial, institutional/public or industrial zones subject to the provisions of Chapter 
16.48.020 (Fences, Walls and Hedges). 
 

Plannning Commission Meeting 
June 28, 2016

20



Page 13 of 39 

SP 16-04 Sherwood Plaza Apartments  

a. For new uses adjacent to inventoried environmentally sensitive areas, screening 
requirements shall be limited to vegetation only to preserve wildlife mobility.  

b. The required screening shall have breaks, where necessary, to allow pedestrian 
access to the site. The design of the wall or screening shall also provide breaks or 
openings for visual surveillance of the site and security. 

  
c. Evergreen hedges used to comply with this standard shall be a minimum of thirty-

six (36) inches in height at maturity, and shall be of such species, number and 
spacing to provide the required screening within one (1) year after planting. 
 
Staff Analysis: The applicant proposes a six foot cedar fence along the eastern boundary 
and most of the southern boundary, both of which are adjacent to existing residential 
developments. At the southwest corner of the site, there are existing mature Photinia 
shrubs that provide screening between developments. 
 
The applicant does not propose a break in the fence between developments to allow 
pedestrian access to the site. Since the eastern property line is 720 feet long, a pedestrian 
pathway between the residential developments is warranted for better access to 
Sherwood Plaza and better pedestrian connectivity for the surrounding neighborhood.  
 
FINDING: Based on the above discussion, the applicant meets criterion with respect to 
the fencing, but does not include an adequate break in the screening where necessary to 
allow pedestrian access to the site.  
 
RECOMMENDED CONDITION: Prior to final site plan approval, provide at least one break 
in the fencing with a five foot wide public pedestrian pathway and a corresponding public 
non-vehicular access easement centrally located at the eastern boundary to allow 
adjoining pedestrian access through the site.  
 
 

2. Perimeter Landscaping Buffer 
a. A minimum ten (10) foot wide landscaped strip comprised of trees, shrubs and ground 
cover shall be provided between off-street parking, loading, or vehicular use areas on 
separate, abutting, or adjacent properties. 
b. The access drives to a rear lots in the residential zone (i.e. flag lot) shall be separated 
from abutting property(ies) by a minimum of forty-two-inch sight-obscuring fence or a 
forty-two-inch to an eight (8) feet high landscape hedge within a four-foot wide landscape 
buffer. Alternatively, where existing mature trees and vegetation are suitable, Review 
Authority may waive the fence/buffer in order to preserve the mature vegetation. 
 
3. Perimeter Landscape Buffer Reduction 
If the separate, abutting property to the proposed development contains an existing 
perimeter landscape buffer of at least five (5) feet in width, the applicant may reduce the 
proposed site's required perimeter landscaping up to five (5) feet maximum, if the 
development is not adjacent to a residential zone. For example, if the separate abutting 
perimeter landscaping is five (5) feet, then applicant may reduce the perimeter landscaping 
to five (5) feet in width on their site so there is at least five (5) feet of landscaping on each 
lot. 

 
Staff Analysis:  The applicant has indicated within their narrative that they would be 
providing a fence along the eastern and southern property line. The applicant also provides 

Plannning Commission Meeting 
June 28, 2016

21



Page 14 of 39 

SP 16-04 Sherwood Plaza Apartments  

for at least ten feet of landscaping around the perimeter of the site. It is still unclear whether 
the majority of the lodgepole pines will remain, but regardless, the landscape plan shows 
adequate perimeter landscaping on the western boundary as well. The applicant proposes 
to landscape the entire 11 foot wide area between the fence and the buildings to the east. 
The applicant does not propose a reduction.  
 
FINDING: Based on the above discussion, the applicant meets this criterion. 
 

B. Parking Area Landscaping 

1.  Purpose 

The standard is a landscape treatment that uses a combination of trees, shrubs, and 

ground cover to provide shade, storm water management, aesthetic benefits, and 

screening to soften the impacts of large expanses of pavement and vehicle movement. It 

is applied to landscaped areas within and around the parking lot and loading areas. 

2. Definitions 

a. Parking Area Landscaping: Any landscaped area on the site that is not required 

 as perimeter landscaping § 16.92.030 (Site Landscaping and Screening). 

b. Canopy Factor 

(1) Landscape trees are assigned a canopy factor to determine the specific number 

 of required trees to be planted. The canopy factor is calculated based on the 

 following formula: 

Canopy Factor = Mature Height (in feet) × Canopy Spread (in feet) × Growth Rate      

Factor × .01 

(2)  Growth Rate Factor: The growth rate factor is three (3) for fast-growing trees, 

 two (2) for medium growing trees, and one (1) for slow growing trees. The growth 

 rate of a tree is identified in the "Suggested Plant Lists for Required Landscaping 

 Manual." 

3.  Required Landscaping 

There shall be at least forty-five (45) square feet parking area landscaping for each parking 

space located on the site. The amount of required plant materials are based on the number 

of spaces as identified below. 

Staff Analysis: The applicant proposes 139 spaces which requires 6,255 square feet of 

parking area landscaping. The applicant proposes 14 landscaped planters totaling 6354 

square feet of parking area landscaping interior to the parking area that comply with the 

spacing requirements.  

4.  Amount and Type of Required Parking Area Landscaping 

a.  Number of Trees required based on Canopy Factor 

Small trees have a canopy factor of less than forty (40), medium trees have a canopy factor 

from forty (40) to ninety (90), and large trees have a canopy factor greater than ninety (90);  

(1)  Any combination of the following is required: 

 (i) One (1) large tree is required per four (4) parking spaces; 

Plannning Commission Meeting 
June 28, 2016

22

https://www2.municode.com/library/


Page 15 of 39 

SP 16-04 Sherwood Plaza Apartments  

 (ii) One (1) medium tree is required per three (3) parking spaces; or 

 (iii) One (1) small tree is required per two (2) parking spaces. 

 (iv) At least five (5) percent of the required trees must be evergreen. 

(2)  Street trees may be included in the calculation for the number of required trees 

 in the parking area. 

 Staff Analysis: The applicant proposes 38 trees onsite to meet the parking area 

 landscaping requirements. The applicant has provided 25 large trees to account for 100 

 parking spaces and 14 medium trees to account for 42 parking spaces. The applicant 

 has included enough trees per parking space and provided details as to which trees are 

 designated medium or large on the plan set. The applicant proposes two evergreen 

 trees, or 5 % of the required total. 

 FINDING: Based on the above discussion the applicant meets this standard. 

b.  Shrubs: 

(1) Two (2) shrubs are required per each space. 

(2) For spaces where the front two (2) feet of parking spaces have been landscaped 

instead of paved, the standard requires one (1) shrub per space. Shrubs may be 

evergreen or deciduous. 

 Staff Analysis: The applicant proposes 300 shrubs for 97 parking spaces, nearly three 

 per space and 160 shrubs for the 42 spaces that require an additional shrub per space.  

 The applicant proposes 460 shrubs in total. 

  

 FINDING: Based on the above discussion the applicant meets this standard. 

c.  Ground cover plants: 

(1) Any remainder in the parking area must be planted with ground cover plants. 

(2) The plants selected must be spaced to cover the area within three (3) years. Mulch does 

not count as ground cover. 
 
 Staff Analysis: The applicant proposes to cover the remaining unpaved area with 
 ground cover and has noted that the selected plants will be able to cover the area within 
 three years.  
 
 FINDING: Based on the above discussion, the applicant meets this criterion.  
 
a.  Individual landscaped areas (islands) shall be at least ninety (90) square feet in area 

and a minimum width of five (5) feet and shall be curbed to protect the landscaping.  
 
b.  Each landscape island shall be planted with at least one (1) tree. 
 
c.  Landscape islands shall be evenly spaced throughout the parking area. 
 
d.  Landscape islands shall be distributed according to the following: 
 

Plannning Commission Meeting 
June 28, 2016

23



Page 16 of 39 

SP 16-04 Sherwood Plaza Apartments  

(2) Multi or mixed-uses, institutional and commercial uses: one (1) island for every ten (10) 
contiguous parking spaces. 
 
e. Storm water bio-swales may be used in lieu of the parking landscape areas and may be 
included in the calculation of the required landscaping amount.  
 

Staff Analysis: The applicant has provided landscape islands that are spaced to provide 
for at least one island for every ten contiguous parking spaces. The fourteen planter 
islands each contain a tree within each landscape island that is at least 90 square feet 
and 5 feet wide with curbs to protect the landscaping. The applicant has spaced the 
landscaping appropriately throughout the site. 

 
 FINDING: Based on the above discussion, this criterion is met.  
 
C. Screening of Mechanical Equipment, Outdoor Storage, Service and Delivery Areas 
 
All mechanical equipment, outdoor storage and manufacturing, and service and delivery 
areas, shall be screened from view from all public streets and any adjacent residential 
zones. If unfeasible to fully screen due to policies and standards, the applicant shall make 
efforts to minimize the visual impact of the mechanical equipment.  
 
 Staff Analysis: According to the applicant, they do not propose any outdoor 
 storage or mechanical equipment. 
 
 FINDING: Based on the above discussion, this criterion is not applicable.  
 
D. Visual Corridors 
Except as allowed by subsection 6. above, new developments shall be required to 
establish landscaped visual corridors along Highway 99W and other arterial and collector 
streets, consistent with the Natural Resources and Recreation Plan Map, Appendix C of 
the Community Development Plan, Part II, and the provisions of Chapter 16.142( Parks, 
Trees, and Open Space). Properties within the Old Town Overlay are exempt from this 
standard.  
  
 Staff Analysis: The northern property is adjacent to SW Langer, a collector  and 
thus a visual corridor is required along the frontage. This will be  discussed and conditioned 
further within this report under Chapter 16.142.  
 
16.92.040 Installation and Maintenance Standards  
A. Installation 
All required landscaping must be in-ground, except when in raised planters that are used 
to meet minimum Clean Water Services storm water management requirements. Plant 
materials must be installed to current nursery industry standards. Plant materials must be 
properly supported to ensure survival. Support devices such as guy wires or stakes must 
not interfere with vehicular or pedestrian movement.  
 
B. Maintenance and Mitigation of Landscaped Areas 
 
1. Maintenance of existing non-invasive native vegetation is encouraged within a 
development and required for portions of the property not being developed.  
 

Plannning Commission Meeting 
June 28, 2016

24



Page 17 of 39 

SP 16-04 Sherwood Plaza Apartments  

2. All landscaping shall be maintained in a manner consistent with the intent of the 
approved landscaping plan. 
 
3. Any required landscaping trees removed must be replanted consistent with the 
approved landscaping plan and comply with § 16.142, (Parks, Trees and Open Space).  
 
C. Irrigation 
 
The intent of this standard is to ensure that plants will survive the critical establishment 
period when they are most vulnerable due to lack of watering. All landscaped areas must 
provide an irrigation system, as stated in Option 1, 2, or 3.  
 
1. Option 1: A permanent built-in irrigation system with an automatic controller installed. 
 
2. Option 2: An irrigation system designed and certified by a licensed landscape architect 
or other qualified professional as part of the landscape plan, which provides sufficient 
water to ensure that the plants become established. The system does not have to be 
permanent if the plants chosen can survive independently once established.  
 
3. Option 3: Irrigation by hand. If the applicant chooses this option, an inspection will be 
required one (1) year after final inspection to ensure that the landscaping has become 
established.  
 
 Staff Analysis: The applicant‘s landscaping plans show the installation and 
 maintenance standards for the proposed landscaping. An irrigation system will be 
 used to ensure that the plants remain healthy. The applicant proposes a landscaping 
 company to maintain the grounds and existing trees to be retained will remain 
 protected during construction by fencing and erosion control inspections by city staff. 
 
 FINDING: Based on the above discussion, the applicant has met this criterion.  
 
16.94 Off Street Parking and Loading  
16.94.010 - General Requirements  
E. Location 
1. Residential off-street parking spaces: 
a. Shall be located on the same lot or development as the residential use. 
b. Shall not include garages or enclosed buildings with the exception of a parking 
structure in multifamily developments where three (3) or more spaces are not 
individually enclosed. (Example: Underground or multi-level parking structures). 
 

Staff Analysis: The applicant proposes to add surface parking around the buildings and in 
the central area on the same residential lot. The applicant also proposes three separate 
garage structures but do not include the structured parking to satisfy the minimum parking 
requirements for the site. The applicant does not propose any on street parking. 

 
 
 
F. Marking 
All parking, loading or maneuvering areas shall be clearly marked and painted. All interior 
drives and access aisles shall be clearly marked and signed to show the direction of flow and 
maintain vehicular and pedestrian safety.  

Plannning Commission Meeting 
June 28, 2016

25



Page 18 of 39 

SP 16-04 Sherwood Plaza Apartments  

 Staff Analysis: All of the parking will be marked with striping. The applicant shows a 
 two lane drive aisle that is shown marked on the plans.  
  
 FINDING: Based on the above discussion the applicant meets this criterion. 

G. Surface and Drainage 

1.  All parking and loading areas shall be improved with a permanent hard surface such as 

asphalt, concrete or a durable pervious surface. Use of pervious paving material is 

encouraged and preferred where appropriate considering soils, location, anticipated 

vehicle usage and other pertinent factors.  

 

 FINDING: The applicant proposes to use asphalt for the parking area. This criterion is 

 met.  

 

H. Repairs 

Parking and loading areas shall be kept clean and in good repair. Breaks in paved surfaces 
shall be repaired. Broken or splintered wheel stops shall be replaced. Painted parking 
space boundaries and directional symbols shall be maintained in a readable condition.  

 FINDING: The site will be inspected before the Certificate of Occupancy is granted 
 and will need to be in good condition and repair. After that, any necessary repairs would 
 become a Code Compliance issue. Based on the discussion, the applicant has not met 
 this criterion, but can do so by satisfying the following condition. 

 RECOMMENDED CONDITION: Prior to final occupancy, ensure that the parking and 
 loading areas are in good repair, wheel stops are in good condition and the painted 
 parking space boundaries and directional symbols are readable. 

I. Parking and Loading Plan 

An off-street parking and loading plan, drawn to scale, shall accompany requests for 
building permits or site plan approvals, except for single and two-family dwellings, and 
manufactured homes on residential lots. The plan shall show but not be limited to:  

1. Delineation of individual parking and loading spaces and dimensions. 

2. Circulation areas necessary to serve parking and loading spaces. 
3. Location of accesses to streets, alleys and properties to be served, and any curb cuts.  
4. Landscaping as required by Chapter 16.92.  
5.  Grading and drainage facilities. 

6. Signing and bumper guard specifications. 

7.  Bicycle parking facilities as specified in Section 16.94.020.C. 

8. Parking lots more than one (1) acre in size shall provide street-like features including 

curbs, sidewalks, and street trees or planting strips.  
 

Plannning Commission Meeting 
June 28, 2016

26

https://www.municode.com/library/


Page 19 of 39 

SP 16-04 Sherwood Plaza Apartments  

 FINDING: The applicant prepared a parking plan that included the striping plan and 
 dimensions. The specific criteria will be discussed within the applicable Code 
 sections.  
 
16.94.020 - Off-Street Parking Standards  
A. Generally 
Where square feet are specified, the area measured shall be the gross building floor area 
primary to the functioning of the proposed use. Where employees are specified, persons 
counted shall be those working on the premises, including proprietors, during the largest 
shift at peak season. Fractional space requirements shall be counted as a whole space. The 
Review Authority may determine alternate off - street parking and loading requirements for a 
use not specifically listed in this Section based upon the requirements of comparable uses 
 
Table 1: Minimum and Maximum Parking Standards  

Sherwood Plaza 
Apartments Unit Type 

Number of Units 
Proposed  

Minimum Parking 
Spaces Required 

Studio ( 1 per unit) 6 6 

One Bed (1.25 per unit) 41 51 

Two Bed (1.5 per unit) 29 44 

 
Three Bedroom (1.75 
per unit) 

6 11 

Visitor Parking  
(15 % additional) 

112 parking 
spaces x 15% 

17 

 
 
 Staff Analysis: Parking standards for multi-family developments depend on the 
 number of bedrooms in each apartment. The table above shows that 112 parking 
 spaces are required for the apartments with an additional 15 % for visitor parking. 
 In this case, 17 additional spaces are required for visitors.  
 The applicant has provided for 139 surface parking spaces onsite, exceeding the 
 minimum required by 10 additional spaces. The applicant proposes three garage 
 buildings over 1,100 square feet in side for additional parking for tenants, and not 
 included in this calculation. 
 
 FINDING: Based on the above discussion, the applicant meets this criterion.   
 
B. Dimensional and General Configuration Standards 
1. Dimensions For the purpose of this Chapter, a "parking space" means a stall nine (9) feet 
in width and twenty (20) feet in length. Up to twenty five (25) percent of required parking 
spaces may have a minimum dimension of eight (8) feet in width and eighteen (18) feet in 
length so long as they are signed as compact car stalls. 
 

Staff Analysis: The applicant‘s plans show 139 standard parking spaces. The applicant 
shows that there will be eighteen (18) compact parking spaces and 121 standard parking 
spaces. Up to 25 % of the minimum number of spaces may be compact so up to 32 spaces 
are allowed. Since the applicant proposes only 18 spaces as compact, this standard is met. 

  
 FINDING: Based on the above discussion, the applicant meets this criterion. 
 

Plannning Commission Meeting 
June 28, 2016

27



Page 20 of 39 

SP 16-04 Sherwood Plaza Apartments  

2. Layout 
Parking space configuration, stall and access aisle size shall be of sufficient width for all 
vehicle turning and maneuvering. Groups of more than four (4) parking spaces shall be 
served by a driveway so as to minimize backing movements or other maneuvering within a 
street, other than an alley. All parking areas shall meet the minimum standards shown in the 
following table and diagram. 
 

Staff Analysis: All of the parking spaces are at 90 degree angles to the drive aisles  and 
according to Table 3, the minimum standard is 26 feet for the two way drive aisle. The 
applicant proposes a 26 foot wide two way drive aisle for the parking area. 

 
 FINDING: Based on the above discussion, the applicant meets this standard. 
 
3. Wheel Stops 
a. Parking spaces along the boundaries of a parking lot or adjacent to interior landscaped 
areas or sidewalks shall be provided with a wheel stop at least four (4) inches high, located 
three (3) feet back from the front of the parking stall as shown in the above diagram. 
b. Wheel stops adjacent to landscaping, bio-swales or water quality facilities shall be 
designed to allow storm water runoff. 
 
 FINDING: The applicant shows wheel stops where they abut a sidewalk. Therefore, 
 the applicant meets this criterion with respect to the site plan, but cannot fully 
 comply with this requirement without the following condition.  
 
 RECOMMENDED CONDITION: Prior to receiving the Certificate of Final  Occupancy, 
install wheel stops where they abut sidewalks or interior landscaping. 
 
 
C. Bicycle Parking Facilities 
1. General Provisions 
a. Applicability. Bicycle parking spaces shall be provided for new development, changes of 
use, and major renovations, defined as construction valued at twenty-five (25) percent or 
more of the assessed value of the existing structure. 
b. Types of Spaces. Bicycle parking facilities shall be provided in terms of short-term bicycle 
parking and long-term bicycle parking. Short-term bicycle parking is intended to encourage 
customers and other visitors to use bicycles by providing a convenient and readily 
accessible place to park bicycles. Long-term bicycle parking provides employees, students, 
residents, commuters, and others who generally stay at a site for at least several hours a 
weather-protected place to park bicycles. 
c. Minimum Number of Spaces. The required total minimum number of bicycle parking 
spaces for each use category is shown in  
Table 4, Minimum Required Bicycle Parking Spaces. 
d. Minimum Number of Long-term Spaces. If a development is required to provide eight (8) 
or more required bicycle parking spaces in Table 4, at least twenty-five (25) percent shall be 
provided as long-term bicycle with a minimum of one (1) long-term bicycle parking space. 
 
e. Multiple Uses. When there are two or more primary uses on a site, the required bicycle 
parking for the site is the sum of the required bicycle parking for the individual primary uses. 
 Staff Analysis: The applicant’s site plan indicates that that the site will have both short and 
 long term bike parking. The Code requires two bike spaces per ten auto spaces; and since 

Plannning Commission Meeting 
June 28, 2016

28



Page 21 of 39 

SP 16-04 Sherwood Plaza Apartments  

 over bike 8 spaces are required the applicant is required to provide additional long term bike 
 spaces at a rate of 25 % of the total required. 
 
  In this case, the project has 139 vehicular parking spaces so the applicant is required to 
 have at least 14 spaces with at least 25% or 4 spaces long term.  
 
 The applicant has included a covered area for six long term spaces near the southeast corner 
 of the site and 12 short term spaces. Sheet A.1.04 shows the typical bike rack to be used 
 on the site and the long term bike shelter located at the same location. 
 
 FINDING: Based on the above discussion, this criterion is met. 
 
2. Location and Design. 
a. General Provisions 
(1) Each space must be at least two (2) feet by six (6) feet in area, be accessible without 
moving another bicycle, and provide enough space between the rack and any obstructions 
to use the space properly. 
(2) There must be an aisle at least five (5) feet wide behind all required bicycle parking to 
allow room for bicycle maneuvering. Where the bicycle parking is adjacent to a sidewalk, 
the maneuvering area may extend into the right-of-way. 
(3) Lighting. Bicycle parking shall be at least as well-lit as vehicle parking for security. 
(4) Reserved Areas. Areas set aside for bicycle parking shall be clearly marked and 
reserved for bicycle parking only. 
(5) Bicycle parking in the Old Town Overlay District can be located on the sidewalk within 
the right-of-way. A standard inverted "U shaped" or staple design is appropriate. 
Alternative, creative designs are strongly encouraged. 
(6) Hazards. Bicycle parking shall not impede or create a hazard to pedestrians. Parking 
areas shall be located so as to not conflict with vision clearance standards. 
b. Short-term Bicycle Parking 
(1) Provide lockers or racks that meet the standards of this section. 
(2) Locate inside or outside the building within thirty (30) feet of the main entrance to the 
building or at least as close as the nearest vehicle parking space, whichever is closer. 
c. Long-term Bicycle Parking 
(1) Provide racks, storage rooms, or lockers in areas that are secure or monitored (e.g., 
visible to employees or customers or monitored by security guards). 
(2) Locate the outside bicycle parking spaces within one hundred (100) feet of the entrance 
that will be accessed by the intended users. 
(3) All of the spaces shall be covered. 
d. Covered Parking (Weather Protection) 
(1) When required, covered bicycle parking shall be provided in one (1) of the following 
ways: inside buildings, under roof overhangs or awnings, in bicycle lockers, or within or 
under other structures. 
(2) Where required covered bicycle parking is not within a building or locker, the cover must 
be permanent and designed to protect the bicycle from rainfall and provide seven-foot 
minimum overhead clearance. 
(3) Where required bicycle parking is provided in lockers, the lockers shall be securely 
anchored. 
 
Table 4: Minimum Required Bicycle Parking Spaces 
Residential Categories 

 Multi-dwelling — 2 or 1 per 10 auto spaces. 

Plannning Commission Meeting 
June 28, 2016

29



Page 22 of 39 

SP 16-04 Sherwood Plaza Apartments  

 FINDING: As discussed above, the applicant has satisfied the required short and long term 
 parking requirement. The site is located near a sidewalk and there is adequate 
 maneuverability for the bikes at this location. This criterion is met.  

 
16.96 Onsite Circulation 

16.96.010 - On-Site Pedestrian and Bicycle Circulation  

A. Purpose 

On-site facilities shall be provided that accommodate safe and convenient pedestrian 

access within new subdivisions, multi-family developments, planned unit developments, 

shopping centers and commercial districts, and connecting to adjacent residential areas 

and neighborhood activity centers within one-half mile of the development. Neighborhood 

activity centers include but are not limited to existing or planned schools, parks, shopping 

areas, transit stops or employment centers. All new development, (except single-family 

detached housing), shall provide a continuous system of private pathways/sidewalks. 

 Staff Analysis: The applicant propose private sidewalks for pedestrian circulation 

 throughout the development and connecting with the other onsite commercial amenities 

 at Sherwood Plaza and on SW Langer Drive. There are two access points within the 

 development for vehicular connectivity. 

 FINDING: Based on the above analysis, the applicant meets this criterion.  

16.96.020 Minimum - Residential standards  

Minimum standards for private, on-site circulation improvements in residential   

developments: 

 

A. Driveways 

1. Single-Family: One (1) driveway improved with hard surface pavement with a 

minimum width of ten (10) feet, not to exceed a grade of 14%. Permeable surfaces and 

planting strips between driveway ramps are encouraged in order to reduce 

stormwater runoff. 

2. Two-Family: One (1) shared driveway improved with hard surface pavement with a 

minimum width of twenty (20) feet; or two (2) driveways improved with hard surface 

pavement with a minimum width of ten (10) feet each. Permeable surfaces and 

planting strips between driveway ramps are encouraged in order to reduce 

stormwater runoff. 

3. Multi-Family: Improved hard surface driveways are required as follows: 

 

Plannning Commission Meeting 
June 28, 2016

30



Page 23 of 39 

SP 16-04 Sherwood Plaza Apartments  

Number of Units 

Number required Two Way Drive 

3—49 1 24 feet 

50 or more 2 24 feet 

 Staff Analysis: The applicant proposes a total of 139 parking spaces that will be 
 centrally located on site. Existing overhead utilities shall be relocated underground 
 along the frontage of the development and beneath the existing easternmost driveway to 
 the existing complex. The Applicant proposes to use an existing driveway that is 26 feet 
 wide. 

 FINDING: Based on the above discussion, the applicant meets this criterion.  

B. Sidewalks and Curbs 

1. A private pathway/sidewalk system extending throughout the development site shall be 
required to connect to existing development, to public rights-of-way with or without 
improvements, to parking and storage areas, and to connect all building entrances to one 
another. The system shall also connect to transit facilities within five hundred (500) feet of 
the site, future phases of development, and whenever possible to parks and open spaces.  

 Staff Analysis: The applicant proposes a private sidewalk system extending throughout 
 the development to the public rights of way and to the parking areas and open space. 
 Although not proposed, the applicant has been conditioned earlier in this report to 
 provide a paved pathway to the adjoining residential multifamily development to the east. 

 FINDING: Based on the above discussion, the applicant meets this criterion.  

16.98.020 - Solid Waste Storage 
All uses shall provide solid waste storage receptacles which are adequately sized to 
accommodate all solid waste generated on site. All solid waste storage areas and 
receptacles shall be located out of public view. Solid waste receptacles for multi-family, 
commercial and industrial uses shall be screened by six (6) foot high sight-obscuring 
fence or masonry wall and shall be easily accessible to collection vehicles. 
 

Staff Analysis:  The applicant provides for two trash enclosures, one at the southwestern 
corner of the site and one near the central eastern boundary between Buildings 3 and 5. 
Pride Disposal has reviewed and approved a revision to the applicant’s proposal as 
evidenced by the letter and comments that they have provided and attached as Exhibit E.    
 
FINDING: Based on the above discussion, this criterion is satisfied.  

 
C. Division VI - Public Improvements  

16.108– Streets 
16.108.030.01 – Required Improvements 

Plannning Commission Meeting 
June 28, 2016

31



Page 24 of 39 

SP 16-04 Sherwood Plaza Apartments  

Except as otherwise provided, all developments containing or abutting an existing or 
proposed street, that is either unimproved or substandard in right-of-way width or 
improvement, shall dedicate the necessary right-of-way prior to the issuance of building 
permits and/or complete acceptable improvements prior to issuance of occupancy 
permits. 
 

Staff Analysis: The subject property is bordered by SW Langer Drive to the north. The 
existing street has a 21-foot wide half-street paved street section with 5-foot wide curb 
tight sidewalk within a 33-foot wide half street right-of-way section. Standard for a 3 lane 
collector street is 24 feet of paved width for a half street section with a 5-foot wide 
landscape strip and 8-foot wide sidewalk within a 39-foot wide half street right-of-way 
section.  The 21 feet of half street paved width with curb-tight sidewalk is consistent 
throughout this area.  
 
The applicant does not propose additional streets or street improvements. However, the 
proposed development (82 new apartments) is anticipated to increase the pedestrian 
traffic and vehicular along the subject property frontage of SW Langer Drive and at the 
SW Langer Drive pedestrian crossing in front of the subject property west of the proposed 
development.  The sidewalk ramps at the main driveway for the existing complex across 
from the Langer Access do not meet ADA standards. 
 

 The preliminary plans indicate that the new development will obtain access to SW 
 Langer Drive via the easternmost driveway of the existing development.  The existing 
 driveway and sidewalk ramps located at the proposed access for the new development 
 does not meet current Sherwood Engineering Department standards. 

 
Ultimately, the Sherwood Transportation System Plan (TSP) indicates removal of the 
traffic signal at SW Sherwood Boulevard/SW Langer Drive intersection and modify the 
intersection so that only right‐in, right‐out, and left‐in movements would be allowed. This 
modification would be supplemented with the installation of a traffic signal at the SW 
Sherwood Boulevard/SW Century Drive intersection, which would include eastbound and 
westbound left turn lanes. Based on the proposed improvements estimated at $900,000 
in the TSP (project D24 as shown in page 169 of the Sherwood TSP Volume 2) and the 
0.82 percent impact by the proposed development as determined by comparing the total 
entering volume during the weekday PM peak hour of background (1,576 vehicles) and 
total traffic (1,589 vehicles) conditions, the development’s proportional share contribution 
of $7,423 is required.  
 
 
FINDING: Based on the above analysis, the applicant does not meet this criterion but can 
do so with the following conditions. 
 
RECOMMENDED CONDITION: Prior to engineering approval, widen sidewalk to 8 feet of 
width and dedicate right-of-way to a 39-foot half street width along the frontage of SW 
Langer Drive from the eastern property line of the subject property through the driveway 
across from the SW Langer Drive/Langer Access intersection.  The right-of-way dedication 
shall be recorded with Washington County prior to final city engineering approval of the 
public improvements.  Street lighting will need to be relocated as necessary. 
 

Plannning Commission Meeting 
June 28, 2016

32



Page 25 of 39 

SP 16-04 Sherwood Plaza Apartments  

RECOMMENDED CONDITION:  Prior to building permit approval, reconstruct the existing 
easternmost driveway to the complex to meet Sherwood Engineering Department 
standards. 
 

 RECOMMENDED CONDITION: Prior to building permit approval, reconstruct existing 
 sidewalk ramp on east side of the existing driveway to the complex (across from the 
 Langer Access road) to bring it in compliance with ADA standards.  
 
 RECOMMENDED CONDITION: Prior to engineering department plan approval, 
 contribute the development’s proportional share contribution of $7,423 for the SW 
 Langer/SW Sherwood Blvd intersection change.  
 
16.108.040.03 - Underground Utilities 
All public and private underground utilities, including sanitary sewers and storm water 
drains, shall be constructed prior to the surfacing of streets. Stubs for service connections 
shall be long enough to avoid disturbing the street improvements when service 
connections are made. 
 

Staff Analysis: The City Engineer has indicated that there are overhead utilities to the site 
that require undergrounding.  
 
FINDING: Based on the above discussion, the applicant has not met this criterion, but can 
do so with the following condition. 
 

 RECOMMENDED CONDITION: Prior to the issuance of building permits,  the existing 
 overhead utilities shall be relocated underground along the frontage of the development 
 and beneath the existing easternmost driveway to the existing complex. 
 
16.108.050.11-Transit Facilities 
Developments along existing or proposed transit routes, as illustrated in Figure 7-2 in the 
TSP, shall be required to provide areas and facilities for bus turnouts, shelters, and other 
transit-related facilities to Tri-Met specifications. Transit facilities shall also meet the 
following requirements: 

1. Locate buildings within 20 feet of or provide a pedestrian plaza at major 

 transit stops. 

2.     Provide reasonably direct pedestrian connections between the transit stop and 

building entrances on the site. 

3.     Provide a transit passenger landing pad accessible to disabled persons (if not 

already existing to transit agency standards). 

4.     Provide an easement or dedication for a passenger shelter and underground 

utility connection from the new development to the transit amenity if requested 

by the public transit provider. 

5.     Provide lighting at a transit stop (if not already existing to transit agency 

standards). 
 
Staff Analysis: There is an existing transit facility on SW Langer north and west near 
Sherwood Plaza. Tri-Met did not provide comments on the proposed development to indicate 
additional stops are needed.  
 

Plannning Commission Meeting 
June 28, 2016

33



Page 26 of 39 

SP 16-04 Sherwood Plaza Apartments  

FINDING: There is no evidence to suggest that any transit facilities are needed for the 
proposed development; therefore, this criterion is not applicable to the proposed 
development. 

  
16.110 - Sanitary Sewers  
Sanitary sewers shall be installed to serve all new developments and shall connect to 
existing sanitary sewer mains.  Sanitary Sewers shall be constructed, located, sized and 
installed at standards consistent 16.110. 
 
 Staff Analysis: Currently, a public sanitary sewer main exists northeast of the subject 
 property crossing SW Langer Drive from the east. There is also a private sanitary sewer 
 within the subject property west of the portion to be developed.  All surrounding properties 
 are developed with public sanitary sewer service, therefore no public sanitary sewer 
 main extension is required.   
 
 The preliminary plans indicate that the new development will connect to the existing 
 public sanitary sewer within the neighboring property east of the subject property.  No 
 record of a public sanitary easement for this sewer can be found. 
 
 FINDING: Based on the above discussion, the applicant does not meet this criterion, but 
 can do so with the following condition.  
 
 RECOMMENDED CONDITION: Prior to engineering plan approval, the proposed 
 development shall supply sanitary service to the development as needed meeting 
 Sherwood Engineering standards. 
 
 RECOMMENDED CONDITION: Prior to engineering plan approval, if the  developer 
 desires to connect to the existing sanitary sewer within the neighboring property to the 
 east, then the developer shall provide proof of or obtain and record a public sanitary 
 sewer easement over the public sanitary sewer within the property east of the subject 
 property. 
 
 RECOMMENDED CONDITION: Prior to final occupancy, private sanitary sewer shall 
 be installed in compliance with the current Oregon Plumbing Specialty Code. 
 
 RECOMMENDED CONDITION Prior to engineering plan approval, all public sanitary 
 sewer infrastructure shall be designed to meet the City of Sherwood standards and be 
 reviewed and approved by the Sherwood Engineering Department. 
 
16.112– Water Supply 
Water lines and fire hydrants conforming to City and Fire District standards shall be 
installed to serve all building sites in a proposed development in compliance with 16.112.   

 
 Staff Analysis: Currently there is a public water main existing within SW Langer Drive 
 along the subject property frontage.  No public water main extension is required, 
 however some improvements may need to occur for placement of fire and domestic 
 service for the development.  
 
 The preliminary plans indicate that the new development will connect to the existing 
 public water line north of the development within SW Langer Drive.   
 

Plannning Commission Meeting 
June 28, 2016

34



Page 27 of 39 

SP 16-04 Sherwood Plaza Apartments  

FINDING: Although the water lines are already available to the site, the Fire Marshal has 
indicated that there is not enough information within the record to demonstrate that fire 
flows are met. Therefore, the following conditions are warranted for this development.  
 

 RECOMMENDED CONDITION: Prior to the issuance of building permits, the 
 proposed development shall supply domestic, irrigation and fire water to the 
 development as needed meeting Sherwood Engineering standards. 
 

RECOMMENDED CONDITION: Prior to the issuance of any building permits, water flows 
calculations (domestic, irrigation and fire) shall be provided by the developer. 

 
16.114 - Storm Water 
Storm water facilities, including appropriate source control and conveyance facilities, shall 
be installed in new developments and shall connect to the existing downstream drainage 
system consistent with the Comprehensive Plan, the requirements of the Clean Water 
Services water quality regulations and section 16.114. 
 
 Staff Analysis: According to the City Engineer, a public storm sewer exists within 
 SW Langer Drive along most of the subject property frontage.  All  surrounding 
 properties are developed with public storm sewer service, therefore no public storm 
 sewer main extension is required. Currently only a small portion of the existing 
 impervious area within the subject property has water quality treatment. 
 
 The preliminary plans indicate that the new development will connect to the existing storm 
 sewer north of the development within SW Langer Drive.   
 
 RECOMMENDED CONDITION: The proposed development shall provide storm sewer 
 service to the development as required to meet Clean Water Services, and the 
 Sherwood Engineering standards. 
 
 RECOMMENDED CONDITION: Prior to engineering approval, the developer shall 
 perform an analysis of the downstream storm sewer system in accordance with Clean 
 Water Services standards. 
 
 RECOMMENDED CONDITION: The developer shall either remove and replace any 
 downstream deficiencies in the existing storm sewer system or provide detention in a 
 manner that the downstream system will have adequate capacity for this new 
 development. 
 
 RECOMMENDED CONDITION The developer shall provide water quality treatment for 
 all new impervious area constructed and any existing impervious area redeveloped 
 unless otherwise approved by the City Engineer and Clean Water Services.  Also some 
 or all of the existing impervious area to remain undisturbed within the subject property 
 shall have water quality treatment as required by Clean Water Services in accordance 
 with their standards. 
 
 RECOMMENDED CONDITION: The developer shall replace the catch basin on the west 
 side of the easternmost driveway and connect it to the existing public storm sewer 
 system within SW Langer Drive or eliminate it if deemed unnecessary by City of Sherwood 
 Engineering Department. 
 

Plannning Commission Meeting 
June 28, 2016

35



Page 28 of 39 

SP 16-04 Sherwood Plaza Apartments  

 RECOMMENDED CONDITION: Private storm water runoff within the subject property 
 shall be collected and conveyed in accordance with the current Oregon Plumbing 
 Specialty Code. 
 
16.116.010 - Fire Protection 
 
When land is developed so that any commercial or industrial structure is further than 250 
feet or any residential structure is further than 500 feet from an adequate water supply for 
fire protection, as determined by the Fire District, the developer shall provide fire 
protection facilities necessary to provide adequate water supply and fire safety. In addition 
capacity, fire flow, access to facilities and number of hydrants shall be consistent with 
16.116.020 and fire district standards. 
 
 Staff Analysis: There is an existing fire hydrant within the subject property on the west 
 side of the development.  This fire hydrant appears to supply fire flow for the 
 development.  This fire hydrant is currently lacking a backflow assembly between the fire 
 hydrant and the public water main. 

Thomas Mooney, the TVFR Deputy Fire Marshal has provided comments within Exhibit C 
of this report that indicates that the development has not fully satisfied the fire protection 
requirements. This is not uncommon in that the District will typically issue comments that 
are intended to guide the applicant towards compliance as the construction drawings are 
finalized; however, given that the comments are not specific to the proposal the following 
conditions are warranted.  

FINDING: Based on the above discussion, the applicant does not meet this standard but 
is able to do so by satisfying the following conditions. 

  

RECOMMENDED CONDITION: Prior to the issuance of building permits, the applicant 
shall provide evidence in writing from the Fire Marshal that the requirements within his 
comments have been satisfied by the proposed development.    

 
 RECOMMENDED CONDITION: If on-site fire protection is required, install backflow 
 protection meeting Sherwood Engineering Department standards. 
 
 RECOMMENDED CONDITION: The existing fire hydrant shall have backflow protection 
 meeting Sherwood Engineering Department standards or be removed from service. 
 
 RECOMMENDED CONDITION: Prior to final occupancy, private water lines shall be 
 installed in compliance with the current Oregon Plumbing Specialty Code. 
 
 RECOMMENDED CONDITION: Prior to issuance of a final engineering plan approval, all 
 public water infrastructure shall meet City of Sherwood standards and be reviewed and 
 approved by the Sherwood Engineering Department. 

 
16.118.020 – Public and Private Utilities Standard 

           A. Installation of utilities shall be provided in public utility easements and shall be sized,   
 constructed, located and installed consistent with this Code, Chapter 7 of the Community 
 Development Code, and applicable utility company and City standards. 

Plannning Commission Meeting 
June 28, 2016

36



Page 29 of 39 

SP 16-04 Sherwood Plaza Apartments  

B. Public utility easements shall be a minimum of eight feet in width unless a reduced 
width is specifically exempted by the City Engineer. 
C. Where necessary, in the judgment of the City Manager or his designee, to provide for 

orderly development of adjacent properties, public and franchise utilities shall be 
extended through the site to the edge of adjacent property (ies). 

D.  Franchise utility conduits shall be installed per the utility design and  specification 
standards of the utility agency. 

E.  Public Telecommunication conduits and appurtenances shall be installed per the 
City of Sherwood telecommunication design standards. 

F. Exceptions: Installation shall not be required if the development does not require any 
other street improvements.  In those instances, the developer shall pay a fee in lieu 
that will finance installation when street or utility improvements in that location occur. 

 
Staff Analysis: In this specific instance, the developer is proposing to connect to services 
at the property line.     
 
FINDING: The proposed development includes the extension of some public utilities onto 
the site.  It is in the public’s interest to have access to the utilities for the purpose of 
maintenance. Therefore, the following condition is warranted with this proposal.  
 
RECOMMENDED CONDITION: Prior to granting occupancy, the applicant shall provide 
an 8 foot public utility easement for the water meter and the FDC vault and assembly in 
conformance with City standards.   
 
RECOMMENDED CONDITION: Prior to Building Permit approval, install Sherwood 
Broadband utilities shall be installed along the subject property’s frontage per 
requirements set forth in City Ordinance 2005-017 and City Resolution 2005-074. 

D.  Division VIII. Environmental Resources 

Chapter 16.142 - PARKS, TREES AND OPEN SPACES 

16.142.020 - Multi-Family Developments 

A.    Standards 

Except as otherwise provided, recreation and open space areas shall be provided in 

new multi-family residential developments to the following standards (townhome 

development requirements for open space dedication can be found in Chapter 

16.44.B.8- Townhome Standards): 

1.  Open Space 

A minimum of twenty percent (20%) of the site area shall be retained in common 

open space. Required yard parking or maneuvering areas may not be substituted 

for open space. 

2. Recreation Facilities 

A minimum of fifty percent (50%) of the required common open space shall be 

suitable for active recreational use. Recreational spaces shall be planted in grass 

or otherwise suitably improved. A minimum area of eight-hundred (800) square 

feet and a minimum width of fifteen (15) feet shall be provided. 

Plannning Commission Meeting 
June 28, 2016

37



Page 30 of 39 

SP 16-04 Sherwood Plaza Apartments  

3.   Minimum Standards 

Common open space and recreation areas and facilities shall be clearly shown 

on site development plans and shall be physically situated so as to be readily 

accessible to and usable by all residents of the development. 

Staff Analysis: The applicant is required to have at least 20% of the site area for open space. 

The total site area is approximately 149,410 square feet and therefore 29,882 square feet is 

required for the multifamily development. The applicant provides approximately 33,317 

square feet for open space. (See applicant’s materials, sheet A1.02) 

The applicant is also required to provide at least 50% of the required open space (29,882 

square feet) for active recreational use. The applicant provides for an area in the 

southeastern corner of the site to be equipped with a play structure and park benches and 

several other areas that will be landscaped with grass and plantings that are just under 8,000 

square feet. The open space areas area dispersed throughout the development and in close 

proximity to the different apartment buildings. However, the applicant does not provide the 

size of the individual open space areas to determine if the applicant has fully complied with 

this criterion. 

 FINDING: Based on the above discussion, the applicant has not met this criterion. Based 

 on the amount of open space illustrated on the plans, it is feasible for the applicant to meet 

 this criterion with the following condition. 

 RECOMMENDED CONDITION: Prior to final site plan approval, provide the calculations 

 for the individual open space areas demonstrating compliance with Section 16.142.020.   

16.142.040 - Visual Corridors 

A. Corridors Required 

New developments located outside of the Old Town Overlay with frontage on Highway 

99W, or arterial or collector streets designated on Figure 8-1 of the Transportation 

System Plan shall be required to establish a landscaped visual corridor according to 

the following standards: 

 

Street Minimum Corridor 

3. Collector 10 feet 

B. Landscape Materials 

The required visual corridor areas shall be planted as specified by the review authority 

to provide a continuous visual and/or acoustical buffer between major streets and 

developed uses. Except as provided for above, fences and walls shall not be 

substituted for landscaping within the visual corridor. Uniformly planted, drought 

resistant street trees and ground cover, as specified in Section 16.142.060, shall be 

planted in the corridor by the developer. The improvements shall be included in the 

Plannning Commission Meeting 
June 28, 2016

38

https://www2.municode.com/library/


Page 31 of 39 

SP 16-04 Sherwood Plaza Apartments  

compliance agreement. In no case shall trees be removed from the required visual 

corridor. 

3. Establishment and Maintenance 

Designated visual corridors shall be established as a portion of landscaping 

requirements pursuant to Chapter 16.92. To assure continuous maintenance of the 

visual corridors, the review authority may require that the development rights to the 

corridor areas be dedicated to the City or that restrictive covenants be recorded prior 

to the issuance of a building permit. 

4. Required Yard 

Visual corridors may be established in required yards, except that where the required 

visual corridor width exceeds the required yard width, the visual corridor requirement 

shall take precedence. In no case shall buildings be sited within the required visual 

corridor, with the exception of front porches on townhomes, as permitted in Section 

16.44.010(E) (4) (c). 

 Staff Analysis: SW Langer is a designated collector. The applicant is required to provide a 
 minimum visual corridor that is 10-feet wide along the site’s frontage with SW Langer. The 
 applicant has not shown the visual corridor on the plans, but has provided a landscape 
 plan that shows landscaping that is varying in width between 14 and 28 feet. The proposed 
 landscaping includes a combination of trees shrubs and ground cover along SW Langer 
 Drive. The landscape plans call for a landscape maintenance company to maintain the 
 landscaping. The plan also calls for an internal irrigation system. 
 
 FINDING: Based on the above discussion, the applicant meets the visual corridor criterion. 
 
16.142.050 Trees Along Public Streets or on Other Public Property 
 
16.142.050. Street Trees 

A. Trees are required to be planted to the following specifications along public streets 
abutting or within any new development or redevelopment. Planting of such trees shall 
be a condition of development approval. The City shall be subject to the same standards 
for any developments involving City-owned property, or when constructing or 
reconstructing City streets. After installing street trees, the property owner shall be 
responsible for maintaining the street trees on the owner’s property or within the right-
of-way adjacent to the owner’s property.  

 
Staff Analysis:  The applicant proposes six street trees to be located along the frontage of 
SW Langer Drive. Two of the trees are a Harlequin Glorybower and the other trees are 
Aristocrat Callery Pear. Neither of these trees are on the City’s recommended street tree list. 
The applicant has not provided the tree canopy cover for these trees to know how far apart 
they should be planted either. 
 
FINDING: Based on the above discussion, the applicant has not met this criterion but can do 
so by satisfying the following conditions.  
 

Plannning Commission Meeting 
June 28, 2016

39

https://www2.municode.com/library/
https://www2.municode.com/library/
https://www2.municode.com/library/


Page 32 of 39 

SP 16-04 Sherwood Plaza Apartments  

RECOMMENDED CONDITION: Prior to final site plan approval, provide verification from a 
licensed landscape professional that the proposed trees are suitable for this location and are 
at appropriate distance apart based on the conditions of the site. 
 
RECOMMENDED CONDITION: Prior to final site plan approval, provide plans that show 
street trees adequately placed along the frontage of the site. 

 
 B. Applicability 
 All applications including a Type II - IV land use review, shall be required to preserve trees 

or woodlands, as defined by this Section to the maximum extent feasible within the 
context of the proposed land use plan and relative to other codes, policies, and standards 
of the City Comprehensive Plan.  

 
 C. Inventory 
 1.  To assist the City in making its determinations on the retention of trees and 

woodlands, land use applications including Type II - IV development shall include a tree 
and woodland inventory and report. The report shall be prepared by a qualified 
professional and must contain the following information:  

 
 Staff Analysis: The applicant has provided a limited tree inventory and has  identified the 
 majority of the trees to be removed onsite. However, the inventory does not show the 
 reason for removal of the majority of the trees on site or the condition. The inventory 
 contrasts with the narrative description of the trees to be removed  
 
 FINDING Based on the above discussion, the applicant has not met this standard but could 
do so by satisfying the following condition.  
 

RECOMMENDED CONDITION: Prior to final site plan approval, provide a tree inventory with 
the condition of the trees, and the reason the applicant requests the tree’s removal in order 
to assist the City in making its determinations on the  retention of the trees.  

 
 3. Required Tree Canopy - Non-Residential and Multi-family Developments 
 
 Each net development site shall provide a variety of trees to achieve a minimum total tree 

canopy of 30 percent. The canopy percentage is based on the expected mature canopy 
of each tree by using the equation πr2 to calculate the expected square footage of each 
tree. The expected mature canopy is counted for each tree even if there is an overlap of 
multiple tree canopies.  

 
 The canopy requirement can be achieved by retaining existing trees or planting new trees. 

Required landscaping trees can be used toward the total on site canopy required to meet 
this standard. The expected mature canopy spread of the new trees will be counted 
toward the required canopy cover. A certified arborist or other qualified professional shall 
provide an estimated tree canopy for all proposed trees to the planning department for 
review as a part of the land use review process. 

 
 
 

Plannning Commission Meeting 
June 28, 2016

40



Page 33 of 39 

SP 16-04 Sherwood Plaza Apartments  

 Commercial, Industrial, 
Institutional Public and Multi-
family 

Canopy Requirement 30% 

Counted Toward the Canopy 
Requirement 

 

Street trees included in canopy 
requirement 

No 

Landscaping requirements 
included in canopy requirement 

Yes 

Existing trees onsite Yes 
x2 

Planting new trees onsite Yes 

 
FINDING:  The applicant has not discussed compliance with this criterion, but the landscape 
plans indicate that there are many trees proposed for the site. The applicant could meet this 
criterion with the following condition. 

 
 RECOMMENDED CONDITION: Prior to final site plan approval, provide the tree canopy 
 calculation that shows a minimum 30% tree canopy cover for the site. 

 
16.146.020 - Noise Sensitive Uses 

When proposed commercial and industrial uses do not adjoin land exclusively in 
commercial or industrial zones, or when said uses adjoin special care, institutional, or 
parks and recreational facilities, or other uses that are, in the City's determination, 
sensitive to noise impacts, then:  

A. The applicant shall submit to the City a noise level study prepared by a professional 
acoustical engineer. Said study shall define noise levels at the boundaries of the site 
in all directions.  

B. The applicant shall show that the use will not exceed the noise standards contained 
in OAR 340-35-035, based on accepted noise modeling procedures and worst case 
assumptions when all noise sources on the site are operating simultaneously.  

C. If the use exceeds applicable noise standards as per subsection B of this Section, 
then the applicant shall submit a noise mitigation program prepared by a professional 
acoustical engineer that shows how and when the use will come into compliance with 
said standards.  

 
Staff Analysis: It is not anticipated that there will be high levels of noise beyond what is 
expected in an urban area generated by the proposed multi-family use.  
 
FINDING: As proposed, there will be no adverse impacts therefore this standard is met 

 

16.148.010 - Vibrations 

All otherwise permitted commercial, industrial, and institutional uses shall not cause 
discernible vibrations that exceed a peak of 0.002 gravity at the property line of the 

Plannning Commission Meeting 
June 28, 2016

41

javascript:void(0)
javascript:void(0)


Page 34 of 39 

SP 16-04 Sherwood Plaza Apartments  

originating use, except for vibrations that last five (5) minutes or less per day, based on a 
certification by a professional engineer.  

Staff Analysis: It is not anticipated that there will be high levels of vibration beyond what 
is expected in an urban area.  

FINDING: There are not any expected adverse impacts therefore this standard is met. 

16.150.010 – Air Quality 
All otherwise permitted commercial, industrial, and institutional uses shall comply with 
applicable State air quality rules and statutes:  

A. All such uses shall comply with standards for dust emissions as per OAR 340-21-
060. 

B. Incinerators, if otherwise permitted by Section 16.140.020, shall comply with the 
standards set forth in OAR 340-25-850 through 340-25-905.  

C. Uses for which a State Air Contaminant Discharge Permit is required as per OAR 
340-20-140 through 340-20-160 shall comply with the standards of OAR 340-220 
through 340-20-276.  

 

Staff Analysis: It is not anticipated that there will be high levels of air pollution beyond 
what is expected in an urban area.  

 

FINDING: There are not any expected adverse impacts therefore this standard is met. 

 

16.152.010 - Odors 

All otherwise permitted commercial, industrial, and institutional uses shall incorporate the 
best practicable design and operating measures so that odors produced by the use are 
not discernible at any point beyond the boundaries of the development site.  

Staff Analysis: It is not anticipated that there will be high levels of odor or unusual 
beyond what is expected in an urban area.  

FINDING: There are not any expected adverse impacts therefore this standard is met. 

16.154.010 – Heat and Glare 
 

 

Except for exterior lighting, all otherwise permitted commercial, industrial, and 
institutional uses shall conduct any operations producing excessive heat or glare entirely 
within enclosed buildings. Exterior lighting shall be directed away from adjoining 
properties, and the use shall not cause such glare or lights to shine off site in excess of 
one-half (0.5) foot candle when adjoining properties are zoned for residential uses.  

Staff Analysis: The lighting plan provides a photometric lighting plan that demonstrates that 
the light at the property line is expected to be 0.5 foot candle or less.  

 
FINDING: As demonstrated on the submitted plans, the proposed lighting will not shine off 
site in excess of 0.5 foot candle. This criterion is satisfied.  
 

RECOMMENDATION 

Plannning Commission Meeting 
June 28, 2016

42

javascript:void(0)
http://library.municode.com/HTML/16625/level3/TIT16ZOCODECO_DIVVIIIENRE_CH16.140SOWA.html#TIT16ZOCODECO_DIVVIIIENRE_CH16.140SOWA_16.140.020SOWAIN
javascript:void(0)
javascript:void(0)


Page 35 of 39 

SP 16-04 Sherwood Plaza Apartments  

Based upon review of the applicant’s submittal information, review of the code, agency 
comments and consideration of the applicant’s submittal, staff finds that the requested 
approvals do not fully comply with the standards but can be conditioned to comply.  Therefore, 
staff recommends approval of File Nos: SP 16-04 with the recommended conditions below. 

 
VI. CONDITIONS OF APPROVAL 

 
A. General Conditions 
 
1. Compliance with the Conditions of Approval is the responsibility of the developer 
 or its successor in interest.  
 
2.  This land use approval shall substantially comply with the submitted preliminary 

site plans dated March, 2016 prepared by Emerio Engineering except as indicated 
in the following conditions of the Notice of Decision. Additional development or 
change of use may require a new development application and approval. 

 
3.   The developer/owner/applicant is responsible for all costs associated with 
 private/public facility improvements. 

 
4.   This approval is valid for a period of two (2) years from the date of the 
 decision notice. Extensions may be granted by the City as afforded by the 
 Sherwood Zoning and Community Development Code. 
 
5. An on-going condition of the approval is that the site be maintained in 
 accordance with the approved site plan. In the event that landscaping is not 
 maintained, in spite of the assurances provided, this would become a code 
 compliance issue. 
 
6.   The continual operation of the property shall comply with the applicable 
 requirements of the Sherwood Zoning and Community Development Code and 
 Municipal Code. 
 
7.  A temporary use permit must be obtained from the Planning Department prior to 
 placing a construction trailer on-site.  
 
8.  This approval does not negate the need to obtain permits, as appropriate from 
 other local, state or federal agencies even if not specifically required by this 
 decision. 
 

 B. Prior to issuance of grading or erosion control permits from the   
  Building Department: 

 
1. Obtain City of Sherwood Building Department approval of grading plans. 

 
2. Provide an Erosion and Sediment Control Plan that is consistent with the 

applicable requirements of CWS and or the DEQ for the duration of construction. 
 

 
C. Prior to Final Site Plan Approval: 

Plannning Commission Meeting 
June 28, 2016

43



Page 36 of 39 

SP 16-04 Sherwood Plaza Apartments  

 
1. Submit the required final site plan review fee along with a brief narrative and 

supporting documents demonstrating how each of the final site plan conditions are 
met. 
 

2. Provide revised elevations for the northern sides of Buildings 1 and 2 which front 
SW Langer Drive. The elevations shall clearly demonstrate how the buildings are 
located and oriented to the street, and have significant articulation and treatment, 
via facades, sidewalk connection, porticos, arcades, porches, portal, forecourt, or 
stoop to identify the entrance for pedestrians. 

 
3. Submit plans that indicate the correct number of trees to be removed or retained, 

the condition of the trees and if necessary, the reason for their removal. 
 
4. Provide plans that show at least one break in the fencing with a five foot wide public 

pedestrian pathway and a corresponding public non-vehicular access easement 
centrally located at the eastern boundary to allow adjoining pedestrian access 
through the site. 

 
5. Provide the calculations for the individual open space areas demonstrating 

compliance with Section 16.142.020. 
 
6. Provide verification from a licensed landscape professional that the proposed trees 

are suitable for this location and are at appropriate distance apart based on the 
conditions of the site. 
 

7. Provide plans that show street trees adequately placed along the frontage of the 
site. 

 
8. Provide a tree  inventory with the condition of the trees, and the reason the 

applicant requests the tree’s removal in order to assist the City in making its 
determinations on the retention of the trees.  

 
9. Provide the tree canopy calculation that shows a minimum 30% tree canopy cover 

for the site. 
 

 
 D. Prior to Engineering Plan approval, 
 

1. The developer shall perform an analysis of the downstream storm sewer system 
in accordance with Clean Water Services standards. 

 
2. The developer shall either remove and replace any downstream deficiencies in the 

existing storm sewer system or provide detention in a manner that the downstream 
system will have adequate capacity for this new development. 

 
3.  The developer shall provide water quality treatment for all new impervious area 

constructed and any existing impervious area redeveloped unless otherwise 
approved by the City Engineer and Clean Water Services.  Also some or all of the 
existing impervious area to remain undisturbed within the subject property shall 

Plannning Commission Meeting 
June 28, 2016

44



Page 37 of 39 

SP 16-04 Sherwood Plaza Apartments  

have water quality treatment as required by Clean Water Services in accordance 
with their standards. 

 
4. All public water infrastructure shall meet City of Sherwood standards and be 
 reviewed and  approved by the Sherwood Engineering Department. 
 
5.  Contribute the development’s proportional share contribution of $7,423 for the 

 SW Langer/SW Sherwood Blvd intersection change. 
 

6.  Design the pedestrian crossing striping that conforms to standards defined in 
 Section 3b.18 (Crosswalk Markings) of the Manual on Uniform Traffic Control 
 Devices. The pedestrian crossing striping shall include longitudinal lines parallel 
 to the pedestrian traffic flow, and diagonal lines placed at 45 degree angle to the 
 longitudinal lines. 
 

 
E.  Prior to Issuance of a Building Permit: 
 
1. Receive Sherwood Engineering Department approval of engineering plans for all 
 public improvements and/or connections to public utilities (water, sewer, storm 
 water, and streets).  
 
2.  Obtain approval from the Engineering Department for storm water treatment. 
 
3. Obtain a Storm Water Connection Permit from Clean Water Services. 
 
4. Obtain final site plan approval from the Planning Department. 
 
5.        Provide evidence in writing from the fire marshal that the applicant has submitted 

evidence demonstrating that the existing water lines will provide at least 20 psi of 
dedicated water service.  

6.        The applicant shall provide evidence in writing from the fire marshal that the 
requirements within his comments have been satisfied by the proposed 
development.    

7.  Relocate the existing overhead utilities underground along the frontage of the 
development  and beneath the existing easternmost driveway to the existing 
complex. 

8. All public sanitary sewer infrastructure shall be designed to meet the City of 
Sherwood standards and be  reviewed and approved by the Sherwood 
Engineering Department. 

 
9. The proposed development shall supply domestic, irrigation and fire water to 
 the development as needed meeting Sherwood Engineering standards. 
 
10. Water flows calculations (domestic, irrigation and fire) shall be provided by the 
 developer. 

 
11. The developer shall replace the catch basin on the west side of the 
 easternmost driveway and connect it to the existing public storm sewer system 

Plannning Commission Meeting 
June 28, 2016

45



Page 38 of 39 

SP 16-04 Sherwood Plaza Apartments  

 within SW Langer Drive or eliminate it if deemed unnecessary by City of 
 Sherwood Engineering Department. 
 
12. Private storm water runoff within the subject property shall be collected and 
 conveyed in accordance with the current Oregon Plumbing Specialty Code. 
 
13.  Reconstruct the existing easternmost driveway to the complex to meet 
 Sherwood Engineering Department standards. 
 
14. Reconstruct existing sidewalk ramp on east side of the existing driveway to the  
 complex (across from the Langer Access road) to bring it in compliance with 
 ADA standards 

15. Install Sherwood Broadband utilities shall be installed along the subject property’s 
frontage per requirements set forth in City Ordinance 2005-017 and City 
Resolution 2005-074. 

 
F.  Prior to Final Inspection of the Building Official & Certificate of Occupancy: 
 
1. Provide public utility easements for the water meter and the FDC vault and 

assembly in conformance with City standards. 
 

2. All public improvements shall be competed, inspected and approved, as 
applicable, by the City, CWS, TVF & R, TVWD and other applicable agencies.  

 
3  All agreements required as conditions of this approval must be signed and 
 recorded. 
 
4.  All site improvements including but not limited to landscaping, parking and site 
 lighting shall be installed per the approved final site plan and inspected and 
 approved by the Planning Department. 
 
7.  All other appropriate department and agency conditions have been met. 

 
8.  Ensure that the parking and loading areas are in good repair, wheel stops are in 

 good condition and the painted parking space boundaries and directional symbols 
 are readable. 

    
9.  Install wheel stops where they abut sidewalks or interior landscaping.  
 
10. Install the private sanitary sewer in compliance with the current Oregon Plumbing 

 Specialty Code. 
 
11. All public sanitary sewer infrastructure shall be designed to meet the City of 

 Sherwood standards and be  reviewed and approved by the Sherwood 
 Engineering Department. 

 
12.  The developer shall either remove and replace any  downstream deficiencies in 

 the existing storm sewer system or provide detention in a manner that the 
 downstream system will have adequate capacity for this new development. 

 

Plannning Commission Meeting 
June 28, 2016

46



Page 39 of 39 

SP 16-04 Sherwood Plaza Apartments  

13.  Private sanitary sewer shall be installed in compliance with the current 
 Oregon Plumbing Specialty Code. 

 
14. The proposed development shall provide storm sewer service to the development 

as required to meet Clean Water Services, and the Sherwood Engineering 
standards. 

 
15. The existing fire hydrant shall have backflow protection meeting Sherwood 

Engineering Department standards or be removed from service. 
 

16.   Private water lines shall be installed in compliance with the current Oregon 
 Plumbing Specialty Code. 

 
17.  All public water infrastructure shall meet City of Sherwood standards and  be 

 reviewed and approved by the Sherwood Engineering Department. 
 

18.  Provide an 8 foot public utility easement for the water meter and the FDC vault 
 and assembly in conformance with City standards.  
 

G On-going Conditions: 
 
1. An on-going condition of the approval is that the site be maintained in 
 accordance with the approved site plan.  In the event that landscaping is not 
 maintained, in spite of the assurances provided, this would become a code 
 compliance issue. 

 
 
 VII. EXHIBITS 
 
A. Applicant’s submitted land use application materials received on March 2, 2016 
B. Engineering comments dated June 21, 2016 
C. Clean Water Services comments dated June 13, 2016 
D. Tualatin Valley Fire & Rescue comments dated June 10, 2016 
E. Pride Disposal Company comments dated May 26, 2016 
F. Site Plan with Numbered Buildings 1-6 
G. Transportation information prepared by Kittelson and responses by DKS dated May 

and June 2016 
 

 

Plannning Commission Meeting 
June 28, 2016

47



 

Exhibit A 
 

     Exhibit A can be reviewed electronically at the following web address: 

http://www.sherwoodoregon.gov/planning/project/sherwood-plaza-apartments 

Plannning Commission Meeting 
June 28, 2016

48

http://www.sherwoodoregon.gov/planning/project/sherwood-plaza-apartments


Engineering   
Land Use Application 
Comments  

 

To:  Michelle Miller, Senior Planner 
 
From: Craig Christensen, P.E., Engineering Department  
 
Project: Sherwood Plaza Apartments (SP 16-04) 
 
Date: June 21, 2016 
 

 

Engineering staff has reviewed the information provided for the above cited project.  Final 
construction plans will need to meet the standards established by the City of Sherwood 
Engineering Department and Public Works Department, Clean Water Services (CWS) and 
Tualatin Valley Fire & Rescue in addition to requirements established by other 
jurisdictional agencies providing land use comments.  City of Sherwood Engineering 
Department comments are as follows: 
 
Sanitary Sewer 
Currently a public sanitary sewer main exists northeast of the subject property crossing 
SW Langer Drive from the property east of the subject property.  There is also a private 
sanitary sewer within the subject property west of the portion to be developed.  All 
surrounding properties are developed with public sanitary sewer service, therefore no 
public sanitary sewer main extension is required.   
 
The preliminary plans indicate that the new development will connect to the existing 
public sanitary sewer within the neighboring property east of the subject property.  No 
record of a public sanitary easement for this sewer can be found. 
 
CONDITION: The proposed development shall supply sanitary service to the 
development as needed meeting Sherwood Engineering standards. 
 
CONDITION: If the developer desires to connect to the existing sanitary sewer within 
the neighboring property to the east, then the developer shall provide proof of or obtain 
and record a public sanitary sewer easement over the public sanitary sewer within the 
property east of the subject property prior to final engineering plan approval. 
 
CONDITION: Private sanitary sewer shall be installed in compliance with the current 
Oregon Plumbing Specialty Code. 
 
CONDITION: All public sanitary sewer infrastructure shall meet City of Sherwood 
standards and be reviewed and approved by the Sherwood Engineering Department 
prior to issuance of a final engineering plan approval. 
 

Exhibit B

Plannning Commission Meeting 
June 28, 2016

49



Project: Sherwood Park Apartments (SP 16-04) 
Date: June 21, 2016 
Page: 2 of 5 

 

 

Water 
Currently there is a public water main existing within SW Langer Drive along the subject 
property frontage.  No public water main extension is required, however some 
improvements may need to occur for placement of fire and domestic service for the 
development.  
 
The preliminary plans indicate that the new development will connect to the existing 
public water line north of the development within SW Langer Drive.   
 
CONDITION: The proposed development shall supply domestic, irrigation and fire water 
to the development as needed meeting Sherwood Engineering standards. 
 
CONDITION: Water flows calculations (domestic, irrigation and fire) shall be provided 
by the developer. 
 
Fire protection shall meet the conditions imposed by Tualatin Valley Fire & Rescue. 
 
CONDITION: If on-site fire protection is required, install backflow protection meeting 
Sherwood Engineering Department standards. 
 
There is an existing fire hydrant within the subject property on the west side of the 
development.  This fire hydrant appears to supply fire flow for the development.  This 
fire hydrant is currently lacking a backflow assembly between the fire hydrant and the 
public water main. 
 
CONDITION: The existing fire hydrant shall have backflow protection meeting Sherwood 
Engineering Department standards or be removed from service. 
 
CONDITION: Private water lines shall be installed in compliance with the current 
Oregon Plumbing Specialty Code. 
 
CONDITION: All public water infrastructure shall meet City of Sherwood standards and 
be reviewed and approved by the Sherwood Engineering Department prior to issuance 
of a final engineering plan approval. 
 
Storm Sewer 
Currently a public storm sewer exists within SW Langer Drive along most of the subject 
property frontage.  All surrounding properties are developed with public storm sewer 
service, therefore no public storm sewer main extension is required.   
 
The preliminary plans indicate that the new development will connect to the existing 
storm sewer north of the development within SW Langer Drive.   
 
CONDITION: The proposed development shall provide storm sewer service to the 
development as needed meeting Sherwood Engineering standards. 
 

Plannning Commission Meeting 
June 28, 2016

50



Project: Sherwood Park Apartments (SP 16-04) 
Date: June 21, 2016 
Page: 3 of 5 

 

 

CONDITION: The developer shall perform an analysis of the downstream storm sewer 
system in accordance with Clean Water Services standards. 
 
CONDITION: The developer shall either remove and replace any downstream 
deficiencies in the existing storm sewer system or provide detention in a manner that 
the downstream system will have adequate capacity for this new development. 
 
Currently only a small portion of the existing impervious area within the subject property 
has water quality treatment. 
 
CONDITION: The developer shall provide water quality treatment for all new impervious 
area constructed and any existing impervious area redeveloped unless otherwise 
approved by the City Engineer and Clean Water Services.  Also some or all of the 
existing impervious area to remain undisturbed within the subject property shall have 
water quality treatment as required by Clean Water Services in accordance with their 
standards. 
 
CONDITION: The developer shall replace the catch basin on the west side of the 
easternmost driveway and connect it to the existing public storm sewer system within 
SW Langer Drive or eliminate if deemed unnecessary by City of Sherwood Engineering 
Department. 
 
CONDITION: Private storm water runoff within the subject property shall be collected 
and conveyed in accordance with the current Oregon Plumbing Specialty Code. 
 
Transportation 
The subject property is bordered by SW Langer Drive to the north. The existing street 
has a 21-foot wide half-street paved street section with 5-foot wide curb tight sidewalk 
within a 33-foot wide half street right-of-way section. Standard for a 3 lane collector 
street is 24 feet of paved width for a half street section with a 5-foot wide landscape 
strip and 8-foot wide sidewalk within a 39-foot wide half street right-of-way section.  The 
21 feet of half street paved width with curb-tight sidewalk is consistent throughout this 
area.  
 
CONDITION:  Widen sidewalk to 8 feet of width and dedicate right-of-way to a 39-foot 
half street width along the frontage of SW Langer Drive from the eastern property line of 
the subject property through the driveway across from the SW Langer Drive/Langer 
Access intersection.  The right-of-way dedication shall be recorded with Washington 
County prior to final city engineering approval of the public improvements.  Street 
lighting will need to be relocated as necessary. 
 
The preliminary plans indicate that the new development will obtain access to SW 
Langer Drive via the easternmost driveway of the existing development.  The existing 
driveway and sidewalk ramps located at the proposed access for the new development 
does not meet current Sherwood Engineering Department standards. 
 

Plannning Commission Meeting 
June 28, 2016

51



Project: Sherwood Park Apartments (SP 16-04) 
Date: June 21, 2016 
Page: 4 of 5 

 

 

CONDITION: The existing easternmost driveway to the complex shall be reconstructed 
to meet Sherwood Engineering Department standards. 
 
The proposed development (82 new apartments) is anticipated to increase the 
pedestrian traffic along the subject property frontage of SW Langer Drive and at the SW 
Langer Drive pedestrian crossing in front of the subject property west of the proposed 
development.  The sidewalk ramps at the main driveway for the existing complex across 
from the Langer Access do not meet ADA standards. 
 
CONDITION:  Reconstruct existing sidewalk ramp on east side of the existing driveway 
to the complex (across from the Langer Access road) to bring it in compliance with ADA 
standards. 
 
The analysis of the pedestrian crossing referencing NCHRP 562 for guidance, results in 
the following conditions: 
 
CONDITION: High visibility advanced pedestrian crossing warning signage shall be 
installed at the pedestrian crossing of Langer Drive between the Plaza Site driveway 
entrance and the Highway 99W right-in/right-out access road.  Signage shall conform to 
standards defined in the Manual on Uniform Traffic Control Devices.  Applicant’s 
Engineer shall provide pedestrian crossing signage design drawings to the City for 
review and approval. 
 
CONDITION: The pedestrian crossing striping shall conform to standards defined in 
Section 3b.18 (Crosswalk Markings) of the Manual on Uniform Traffic Control Devices. 
The pedestrian crossing striping shall include longitudinal lines parallel to the pedestrian 
traffic flow, and diagonal lines placed at 45 degree angle to the longitudinal lines. 
 
Grading and Erosion Control: 
City policy requires that prior to grading, a permit is obtained from the Building 
Department for all grading on the private portion of the site. 
 
The Engineering Department requires a grading permit for all areas graded as part of 
the public improvements.  The Engineering permit for grading of the public 
improvements is reviewed, approved and released as part of the public improvement 
plans. 
 
An erosion control plan and permit is required from the City of Sherwood Engineering 
Department for all public and private improvements.  The erosion control permit is 
reviewed, approved and released as part of the public improvement plans. 
 
They proposed development will disturb approximately 3.5 acres. 
 
CONDITION: Developer shall obtain a DEQ NPDES 1200CN permit prior to Sherwood 
Engineering Department approval of the public improvement plans. 
 

Plannning Commission Meeting 
June 28, 2016

52



Project: Sherwood Park Apartments (SP 16-04) 
Date: June 21, 2016 
Page: 5 of 5 

 

 

Other Engineering Issues: 
A Clean Water Services Service Provider Letter has been obtained by the developer. 
 
CONDITION: The developer shall adhere to the conditions of the Clean Water Services 
Service Provider Letter. 
 
CONDITION: A Storm Water Connection Permit Authorization shall be obtained prior to 
Sherwood Engineering Department approval of the public improvement plans. 
 
CONDITION: Developer shall execute an Engineering Compliance Agreement or a right-
of-way permit prior to issuing of a building permit. 
 
CONDITION: Dedicate an 8-foot wide PUE along the frontage of SW Langer Drive from 
the eastern property line of the subject property through the driveway across from the 
SW Langer Drive/Langer Access intersection.  The PUE dedication shall be recorded 
with Washington County prior to final city engineering approval of the public 
improvements. 
 
CONDITION: Existing overhead utilities shall be relocated underground along the 
frontage of the development and beneath the existing easternmost driveway to the 
existing complex. 
  
CONDITION: Sherwood Broadband utilities shall be installed along the subject property’s 
frontage per requirements set forth in City Ordinance 2005-017 and City Resolution 2005-
074. 
 
END OF COMMENTS.  
 

Plannning Commission Meeting 
June 28, 2016

53



 

 

 

 

   M E M O R A N D U M 

 

 

 

Date:  June 13, 2016 

 

To:  Michelle Miller, Senior Planner, City of Sherwood 

 

From:  Jackie Sue Humphreys, Clean Water Services (the District) 

 

Subject:  Sherwood Plaza Apartments, SP-16-04, 2S129CB00400 

 

 

Please include the following comments when writing your conditions of approval: 

 

PRIOR TO ANY WORK ON THE SITE  

 

A Clean Water Services (the District) Storm Water Connection Permit Authorization must be 

obtained.  Application for the District’s Permit Authorization must be in accordance with the 

requirements of the Design and Construction Standards, Resolution and Order No. 07-20, (or 

current R&O in effect at time of Engineering plan submittal), and is to include: 

 

 

a. Detailed plans prepared in accordance with Chapter 2, Section 2.04. 

 

b. Detailed grading and erosion control plan.  An Erosion Control Permit will be required. 

Area of Disturbance must be clearly identified on submitted construction plans.  If site 

area and any offsite improvements required for this development exceed one-acre of 

disturbance, project will require a 1200-CN Erosion Control Permit. 

 

c. Detailed plans showing the development having direct access by gravity to public storm 

and sanitary sewer.   

 

d. Provisions for water quality in accordance with the requirements of the above named 

design standards.  Water Quality is required for all new development and redevelopment 

areas per R&O 07-20, Section 4.05.5, Table 4-1.  Access shall be provided for 

maintenance of facility per R&O 07-20, Section 4.02.4. 

 

e. If use of an existing offsite or regional Water Quality Facility is proposed, it must be 

clearly identified on plans, showing its location, condition, capacity to treat this site and, 

any additional improvements and/or upgrades that may be needed to utilize that facility. 

Exhibit C

Plannning Commission Meeting 
June 28, 2016

54



 

f. If private lot LIDA systems proposed, must comply with the current CWS Design and 

Construction Standards. A private maintenance agreement, for the proposed private lot 

LIDA systems, needs to be provided to the City for review and acceptance. 

 

g. Show all existing and proposed easements on plans.  Any required storm sewer, sanitary 

sewer, and water quality related easements must be granted to the City. 

 

h. Any proposed offsite construction activities will require an update or amendment to the 

current Service Provider Letter for this project. 

 

 

CONCLUSION 

 

This Land Use Review does not constitute the District’s approval of storm or sanitary sewer 

compliance to the NPDES permit held by the District.  The District, prior to issuance of any 

connection permits, must approve final construction plans and drainage calculations. 

Plannning Commission Meeting 
June 28, 2016

55



 

 

 

www.tvfr.com 

Training Center 
12400 SW Tonquin Road 
Sherwood, Oregon 
97140-9734 
503-259-1600 

South Operating Center 
8445 SW Elligsen Road 
Wilsonville, Oregon 
97070-9641 
503-649-8577  

  

North Operating Center 
20665 SW Blanton Street 
Aloha, Oregon  97078 
503-649-8577 

Command & Business Operations Center 
and Central Operating Center 
11945 SW 70th Avenue 
Tigard, Oregon 97223-9196 
503-649-8577 
  

 

 

 

 
June 10, 2016 

 
Michelle Miller, Senior Planner 
City of Sherwood 
Community Development Division 
22560 SW Pine St 
Sherwood, OR 97140 
 
Re:  Sherwood Plaza Apartments, SP 16-04 
Plans dated: April 26, 2016 
 

Dear Michelle, 

Thank you for the opportunity to review the proposed site plan surrounding the above named development 
project.  Tualatin Valley Fire & Rescue endorses this proposal predicated on the following criteria and 
conditions of approval:  

FIRE APPARATUS ACCESS: 
1. FIRE APPARATUS ACCESS ROAD DISTANCE FROM BUILDINGS AND FACILITIES:  Access roads shall be 

within 150 feet of all portions of the exterior wall of the first story of the building as measured by an approved route 
around the exterior of the building or facility.  An approved turnaround is required if the remaining distance to an 
approved intersecting roadway, as measured along the fire apparatus access road, is greater than 150 feet. (OFC 

503.1.1))   
 

Overall site plan indicates this is met. 
 

2. ADDITIONAL ACCESS ROADS – COMMERCIAL/INDUSTRIAL HEIGHT:  Buildings exceeding 30 feet in height or 
three stories in height shall have at least two separate means of fire apparatus access. (D104.1) 

 

Overall site plan indicates this is met. 
 
3. AERIAL FIRE APPARATUS ROADS:  Buildings with a vertical distance between the grade plane and the highest 

roof surface that exceeds 30 feet in height shall be provided with a fire apparatus access road constructed for use by 
aerial apparatus with an unobstructed driving surface width of not less than 26 feet. For the purposes of this section, 
the highest roof surface shall be determined by measurement to the eave of a pitched roof, the intersection of the roof 
to the exterior wall, or the top of the parapet walls, whichever is greater. Any portion of the building may be used for 
this measurement, provided that it is accessible to firefighters and is capable of supporting ground ladder placement. 
(OFC D105.1, D105.2) 
 

Overall site plan indicates this is met. 
 

4. AERIAL APPARATUS OPERATIONS:  At least one of the required aerial access routes shall be located within a 
minimum of 15 feet and a maximum of 30 feet from the building, and shall be positioned parallel to one entire side of 
the building. The side of the building on which the aerial access road is positioned shall be approved by the fire code 

Exhibit D

Plannning Commission Meeting 
June 28, 2016

56



 
 

2 
 

official. Overhead utility and power lines shall not be located over the aerial access road or between the aerial access 
road and the building. (D105.3, D105.4) 

 

Overall site plan indicates this is met. 
 

5. FIRE APPARATUS ACCESS ROAD WIDTH AND VERTICAL CLEARANCE:  Fire apparatus access roads shall 
have an unobstructed driving surface width of not less than 20 feet (26 feet adjacent to fire hydrants (OFC D103.1)) 
and an unobstructed vertical clearance of not less than 13 feet 6 inches. The fire district will approve access roads of 
12 feet for up to three dwelling units and accessory buildings.  (OFC 503.2.1 & D103.1)  

 
Overall site plan indicates this is met. 

 
6. NO PARKING:  Parking on emergency access roads shall be as follows (OFC D103.6.1-2): 

1. 20-26 feet road width – no parking on either side of roadway 
2. 26-32 feet road width – parking is allowed on one side 
3. Greater than 32 feet road width – parking is not restricted 

 
Overall site plan indicates this is met. 

 
7. PAINTED CURBS:  Where required, fire apparatus access roadway curbs shall be painted red (or as approved) and 

marked “NO PARKING FIRE LANE” at 25 foot intervals.  Lettering shall have a stroke of not less than one inch wide 
by six inches high.  Lettering shall be white on red background (or as approved).  (OFC 503.3) 

 
See Overall Site Plan sheet 4 of 5 for locations of fire lane markings. 

 
8. SURFACE AND LOAD CAPACITIES:  Fire apparatus access roads shall be of an all-weather surface that is easily 

distinguishable from the surrounding area and is capable of supporting not less than 12,500 pounds point load (wheel 
load) and 75,000 pounds live load (gross vehicle weight). Documentation from a registered engineer that the final 
construction is in accordance with approved plans or the requirements of the Fire Code may be requested. (OFC 
503.2.3)   

 
Surface and load capabilities not indicated on site plan. 
 

9. TURNING RADIUS:  The inside turning radius and outside turning radius shall not be less than 28 feet and 48 feet 
respectively, measured from the same center point. (OFC 503.2.4 & D103.3) 

 

Overall site plan indicates this is met. 
 
10. ACCESS ROAD GRADE:  Fire apparatus access roadway grades shall not exceed 12%. When fire sprinklers* are 

installed, a maximum grade of 15% will be allowed. 

0-12% Allowed 

13-15% Special consideration with submission of written Alternate Methods and Materials 
request. Ex: Automatic fire sprinkler (13-D) system* in lieu of grade.  

≥16% Special consideration on a case by case basis with submission of written 
Alternate Methods and Materials request Ex: Automatic fire sprinkler (13-D) 
system* plus additional engineering controls in lieu of grade.** 

*The approval of fire sprinklers as an alternate shall be accomplished in accordance with the provisions of ORS 455.610(5) and OAR 918-480-0100 and 

installed per section 903.3.1.1, 903.3.1.2, or 903.3.1.3 of the Oregon Fire Code (OFC 503.2.7 & D103.2) 

** See Forest Dwelling Access section for exceptions. 

Overall site plan indicates this is met. 
 

Plannning Commission Meeting 
June 28, 2016

57



 
 

3 
 

11. AERIAL APPARATUS OPERATING GRADES:  Portions of aerial apparatus roads that will be used for aerial 
operations shall be as flat as possible. Front to rear and side to side maximum slope shall not exceed 10%. 

 
Overall site plan indicates this is met. 

 
12. ACCESS DURING CONSTRUCTION:  Approved fire apparatus access roadways shall be installed and operational 

prior to any combustible construction or storage of combustible materials on the site. Temporary address signage 
shall also be provided during construction. (OFC 3309 and 3310.1)  

 

FIREFIGHTING WATER SUPPLIES: 
13. MUNICIPAL FIREFIGHTING WATER SUPPLY EXCEPTIONS: The requirements for firefighting water supplies may 

be modified as approved by the fire code official where any of the following apply:  (OFC 507.5.1 Exceptions) 
1. Buildings are equipped throughout with an approved automatic fire sprinkler system (the approval of this alternate 

method of construction shall be accomplished in accordance with the provisions of ORS 455.610(5)).  

2. There are not more than three Group R-3 or Group U occupancies. 
 
14. COMMERCIAL BUILDINGS – REQUIRED FIRE FLOW:  The minimum fire flow and flow duration for buildings other than 

one- and two-family dwellings shall be determined in accordance with residual pressure (OFC Table B105.2). The 
required fire flow for a building shall not exceed the available GPM in the water delivery system at 20 psi. 
Note:  OFC B106, Limiting Fire-Flow is also enforced, except for the following: 

• In areas where the water system is already developed, the maximum needed fire flow shall be either 3,000 GPM 
or the available flow in the system at 20 psi, whichever is greater. 

• In new developed areas, the maximum needed fire flow shall be 3,000 GPM at 20 psi. 

• Tualatin Valley Fire & Rescue does not adopt Occupancy Hazards Modifiers in section B105.4-B105.4.1 

 
 

15. FIRE FLOW WATER AVAILABILITY:  Applicants shall provide documentation of a fire hydrant flow test or flow test 
modeling of water availability from the local water purveyor if the project includes a new structure or increase in the 
floor area of an existing structure. Tests shall be conducted from a fire hydrant within 400 feet for commercial projects, 
or 600 feet for residential development.  Flow tests will be accepted if they were performed within 5 years as long as 
no adverse modifications have been made to the supply system. Water availability information may not be required to 
be submitted for every project. (OFC Appendix B) 

 
Provide documentation of fire hydrant flow testing to indicate available fire flow. 

  
16. WATER SUPPLY DURING CONSTRUCTION:  Approved firefighting water supplies shall be installed and operational 

prior to any combustible construction or storage of combustible materials on the site. (OFC 3312.1) 

 

FIRE HYDRANTS: 
17. FIRE HYDRANTS – COMMERCIAL BUILDINGS:  Where a portion of the building is more than 400 feet from a 

hydrant on a fire apparatus access road, as measured in an approved route around the exterior of the building, on-site 
fire hydrants and mains shall be provided.  (OFC 507.5.1) 

• This distance may be increased to 600 feet for buildings equipped throughout with an approved automatic 
sprinkler system. 

• The number and distribution of fire hydrants required for commercial structure(s) is based on Table C105.1, 
following any fire-flow reductions allowed by section B105.3.1.  Additional fire hydrants may be required due to 
spacing and/or section 507.5 of the Oregon Fire Code.   

 
Additional fire hydrants maybe required based upon required fire flow. 

 
18. FIRE HYDRANT NUMBER AND DISTRIBUTION:  The minimum number and distribution of fire hydrants available to a 

building shall not be less than that listed in Table C 105.1.  (OFC Appendix C) 

Plannning Commission Meeting 
June 28, 2016

58



 
 

4 
 

The number of required hydrants will be determined based upon required fire flow. 

 
19. FIRE HYDRANT(S) PLACEMENT:  (OFC C104) 

• Existing hydrants in the area may be used to meet the required number of hydrants as approved.  Hydrants that 
are up to 600 feet away from the nearest point of a subject building that is protected with fire sprinklers may 
contribute to the required number of hydrants. (OFC 507.5.1) 

• Hydrants that are separated from the subject building by railroad tracks shall not contribute to the required 
number of hydrants unless approved by the fire code official. 

• Hydrants that are separated from the subject building by divided highways or freeways shall not contribute to the 
required number of hydrants.  Heavily traveled collector streets may be considered when approved by the fire 
code official. 

• Hydrants that are accessible only by a bridge shall be acceptable to contribute to the required number of hydrants 
only if approved by the fire code official. 

 

Overall site plan indicates this is met. 
 

 
20. FIRE HYDRANT DISTANCE FROM AN ACCESS ROAD:  Fire hydrants shall be located not more than 15 feet from 

an approved fire apparatus access roadway unless approved by the fire code official. (OFC C102.1) 

 
Overall site plan indicates this is met. 

 
21. REFLECTIVE HYDRANT MARKERS:  Fire hydrant locations shall be identified by the installation of blue reflective 

markers.  They shall be located adjacent and to the side of the center line of the access roadway that the fire hydrant 
is located on.  In the case that there is no center line, then assume a center line and place the reflectors accordingly. 
(OFC 507) 
 

Contact City of Sherwood Water Department for markers. 
 

 
22. CLEAR SPACE AROUND FIRE HYDRANTS:  A 3 foot clear space shall be provided around the circumference of fire 

hydrants.  (OFC 507.5.5) 

 
23. FIRE DEPARTMENT CONNECTION (FDC) LOCATIONS:  FDCs shall be located within 100 feet of a fire hydrant (or 

as approved). Hydrants and FDC’s shall be located on the same side of the fire apparatus access roadway or drive 
aisle, fully visible, and recognizable from the street or nearest point of the fire department vehicle access or as 
otherwise approved. (OFC 912.2.1 & NFPA 13) 

• Fire department connections (FDCs) shall normally be located remotely and outside of the fall-line of the building 
when required.  FDCs may be mounted on the building they serve, when approved. 

• FDCs shall be plumbed on the system side of the check valve when sprinklers are served by underground lines 
also serving private fire hydrants.  

 
Overall site plan does not indicate locations of fire department connections for buildings. 
Please indicate locations on site plan. 

 

BUILDING ACCESS AND FIRE SERVICE FEATURES 
24. KNOX BOX:  A Knox Box for building access may be required for structures and gates. See Appendix C for further 

information and detail on required installations. Order via www.tvfr.com or contact TVF&R for assistance and 
instructions regarding installation and placement. (OFC 506.1)  

 

Plannning Commission Meeting 
June 28, 2016

59

http://www.tvfr.com/


 
 

5 
 

25. UTILITY IDENTIFICATION:  Rooms containing controls to fire suppression and detection equipment shall be 
identified as “Fire Control Room.” Signage shall have letters with a minimum of 4 inches high with a minimum stroke 
width of 1/2 inch, and be plainly legible, and contrast with its background. (OFC 509.1) 

 
26. PREMISES IDENTIFICATION:  New and existing buildings shall have approved address numbers; building numbers 

or approved building identification placed in a position that is plainly legible and visible from the street or road fronting 
the property, including monument signs. These numbers shall contrast with their background. Numbers shall be a 
minimum of 4 inches high with a minimum stroke width of 1/2 inch. (OFC 505.1)   
 

 
If you have questions or need further clarification, please feel free to contact me at (503) 259-1419. 

 
Sincerely, 

 

Tom Mooney 
 
Tom Mooney 
Deputy Fire Marshal II 
 
Email: Thomas.mooney@tvfr.com 
 
 
Cc: File  

Plannning Commission Meeting 
June 28, 2016

60



p*ffi*B*Eþ*ffi
DISPOSAL COMPANY

P.O. Box 820 Sherwood, OR 97140
Phone: (503) 625-6177 Fax: (503) 625-6179

May 26,2016

Michelle Miller
Senior Planner
City of Sherwood
503-625-4242

Re: Sherwo od Plaza Apartments

We have reviewed the site plans Jim Toporek sent for the above mentioned project
(attached). There are 2 enclosures on site that both measure at least 20' wide and 10' deep (inside
wall measurements). We will have straight on access to both enclosures with appropriate
clearance across from the opening. Each enclosure has 1 set of gates measuring at least 20' wide.

The site plan indicates there is to be a roof on each enclosure. If a roof is put on each
enclosure, we will need at least 25' of overhead clearance in order to service the enclosures.

The following requirements also need to be met on each enclosure:

. There should be no center post at the access point where the gates close.

o The gates need to be hinged in front of the enclosure walls to allow for the fuII20'
width. This will also allow for the 120 degree opening angle that is required.
o Enclosure on site plan 41.03 will only have 90 degree opening angle on the

southem gate, this is acceptable as long as the northern gate meets the I20' degree
opening angle.

o The gates need cane bolts and holes put in place for the gates to be locked in the open
and closed position. The holes for the gates to be held open need to be at the full
opening angle.

o Full swing gates required.

o There must be 25' of overhead clearance.

If you have any questions, feel free to contact me.

Sincerely,

Kristin Leichner
Pride Disposal Co.
(s03) 62s-6177

Exhibit E

Plannning Commission Meeting 
June 28, 2016

61



U)
-l
C

:
o

g

È

E

g
t"

ø

â
Ê
ã

Ë È
xì
E

s
Ë

s i

ã

l6
-l
r)
o
m
9o
tn

Ø
=m
t
Fz
z
o
-{m?

ET¡ EEEII

åååååååå'ååå

åE*Ë¡rE're-t
trEt tõtg

!FË# *

åããåÊ
È fiHÈ6 BI Xc rè ü

q :' Êçb t

tr

iin

4,n

K

ç

ç
ð

å-

õ

Ø
-{m
!tz
m
omz
I

BtrEs8å
Èñ4Bil
õãõaö:
È ln

PH

&¡
ÞÈ

gg 
FgE

sõ l¡E':Ë ò68

Ii $H;
Ël ëËË
0d d;x
:è È?

ã* ô5F¿ BE

öâ 9F
PA î2ã+Õì5ñ
E 

't!S Ìqa :r
ãþE
I 

"'àÊfie
E

N
I
È

EE
A Eé Q
ãÉÊE
Èïå8

É FA

n :S

i

I
Ë

ú

I
6
â

NEtl
xâ
s

F

Ê

N EW MULTI-FAMIIY HOUSI NG
SHERWOOD APARTMENTS
Ió39O SW IANGER DR. SHERWOOD, OREGON 97I40

à t9 li;rÊ¡i

iiiå;iî
li:itii
.:;rtii

'ii:åii

Þ
J
ao
d

Plannning Commission Meeting 
June 28, 2016

62



-+-T

=m
!
Fz
c

v

Ë

È

tI
H

I
â

!
à

It È

I
t

{
g I i

8

ifflä

åãl

E

sãlt:
9¡
fi

,

Ë

3El
gfis

ãÈå
íÉ
e*
êE

Ë!
9ò

EI
âlÊ si

iöi
S! !

36 Ið9 t

it¡
rIi

lEE

ååffãåååååååläÏååffå

ååååååËËååElãbäs*

åååËå*å¡l¡lËåi'g
ããË ¡¡sïl Ë¡'

E
3
É

ç

fi
a
ô
aI
f;

NEW MUITI.FAMItY HOUSING
SHERWOOD APARTMENTS.Ió390 

SW LANGER DR. SHERWOOD, OREGON 97I40

3 ãdõAa:
a
sÈ
ts9

triiï¡¡

¡¡Ii¡il

<rt

-.1c
:
o

Plannning Commission Meeting 
June 28, 2016

63



åËiËrËå$ËEå
íÈÊ g:giii:ã¿

EËË ilËÍiiåå

ãËää;iigi"ã

8$

g

9grö
F F:E
FUÈT

RiÉA
þõ3Ë
Þe5i
t&Ër
¡õ8

6þ

Ë

lãi?i?lËËff
llååå'å
llå'

dI
¡

A

ì
i
P
ì.
g
B

Ë

6
È

f,

È,

g
!

a
þ

.a

E
ñ

ã

SW LANGER DR.

rååffågïiffg

åååråHffl

ÉfttEgåËs
Bg$õilËâe

äãååËååËå

iËåå'gsrãÍiõ! 3såg

ErãgååË
Ë ¡:ãeg
'iägËË

r i:!Ëi.t2
i eé A. ÈÈ á

!ãáã

1F

0)

NEW MUITI.FAMItY HOUSING
SHERWOOD APARTMENTS
ì ó390 SW LANGER DR. SHERWOOD, OREGON 97I40

g 5ðr3
!
€È

UI{
C
:
o

ffiiiii

¡¡iiii¡

Plannning Commission Meeting 
June 28, 2016

64



Exhibit F

Plannning Commission Meeting 
June 28, 2016

65



Exhibit G

Plannning Commission Meeting 
June 28, 2016

66



Plannning Commission Meeting 
June 28, 2016

67



Plannning Commission Meeting 
June 28, 2016

68



Plannning Commission Meeting 
June 28, 2016

69



Plannning Commission Meeting 
June 28, 2016

70



Plannning Commission Meeting 
June 28, 2016

71



Plannning Commission Meeting 
June 28, 2016

72



Plannning Commission Meeting 
June 28, 2016

73



Plannning Commission Meeting 
June 28, 2016

74



Plannning Commission Meeting 
June 28, 2016

75



Plannning Commission Meeting 
June 28, 2016

76



Plannning Commission Meeting 
June 28, 2016

77



Plannning Commission Meeting 
June 28, 2016

78



Plannning Commission Meeting 
June 28, 2016

79



Plannning Commission Meeting 
June 28, 2016

80



Plannning Commission Meeting 
June 28, 2016

81



Plannning Commission Meeting 
June 28, 2016

82



Plannning Commission Meeting 
June 28, 2016

83



Plannning Commission Meeting 
June 28, 2016

84



Plannning Commission Meeting 
June 28, 2016

85



Plannning Commission Meeting 
June 28, 2016

86



Plannning Commission Meeting 
June 28, 2016

87



Plannning Commission Meeting 
June 28, 2016

88



Plannning Commission Meeting 
June 28, 2016

89



Plannning Commission Meeting 
June 28, 2016

90



Plannning Commission Meeting 
June 28, 2016

91



Plannning Commission Meeting 
June 28, 2016

92



Plannning Commission Meeting 
June 28, 2016

93



Plannning Commission Meeting 
June 28, 2016

94



Plannning Commission Meeting 
June 28, 2016

95



Plannning Commission Meeting 
June 28, 2016

96


	June 28, 2016 Planning Commission Meeting Agenda
	02.09.16 PC Minutes
	05.24.16 PC Minutes Draft
	06.14.16 PC Minutes Draft
	SP 16-04 Sherwood Plaza Apartments Staff Report 
	Exhibit A Website reference
	Exhibit B Engineering Land Use Comments
	Exhibit C Clean Water Services Comments
	Exhibit D TVF&R Comments
	Exhibit E Pride Disposal Comments
	Exhibit F Building Legend
	Exhibit G Transportation Information by applicant's engineer 



